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PRESENTATION OF THE GROUP 
 

 General Presentation 
 

Median Technologies specializes in the field of 
medical imaging. The Company develops 
software applications for the interpretation and 
management of medical images, whose purpose 
is to automatically detect and quantitatively 
measure abnormalities that may be signs of 
diseases. 

Imaging is key in numerous medical areas where 
it is used to by healthcare providers to screen, 
diagnose and track the progress of many 
diseases. Today, medical imaging makes it 
possible to evaluate whether a treatment is 
effective or not for a given patient, particularly 
for those suffering from cancer. This is the 
therapeutic area in which Median Technologies 
is mainly positioned. 

In addition to being involved in patient care 
applications, Median Technologies’ software is 
used today used by biotechnology companies 
and pharmaceutical companies during their 
oncology clinical trials. 

This clinical trials market is the principal basis of 
development in terms of the Group's revenues. 
Today, the Company is leveraging its knowledge 
of the science and technology associated with 
imaging by developing a groundbreaking 
platform in imaging phenomics. 

 This platform makes it possible to identify within 
the image the signatures specific to diseases, the 
knowledge of which will make it possible to move 
in the direction of more and more individualized 
medicine. 

 

 

The activity of Median Technologies is structured 
around three strategic areas: 

• Imaging for patients with cancer 

 Median‘s applications make it possible for 
radiologists and oncologists to evaluate the 
effectiveness of treatments that are given to 
patients based on quantitative measurements in 
medical images. 

• Imaging for oncology clinical trials 

 In this context, Median Technologies works with 
biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies. 
The software applications and imaging services 
that Median develops around these applications 
help its customers develop new innovative and 
personalized drug/biologic treatments for 
patients, as well as assist in defining appropriate 
therapeutic strategies. 

• Imaging Phenomics 

 This is the most innovative area of the 
Company's activities, today. Median 
Technologies is developing the iBiopsy® imaging 
platform, which led to the signing of a 
partnership agreement with Microsoft in June 
2016 for the Big Data portion. Imaging 
Phenomics will be at the heart of individualized 
medicine, which is the medicine of the future. 
Indeed, we know today that each kind of disease 
has its own specific "signature", which may be 
extracted from medical images using powerful 
algorithms, which when correlated to Big Data 
make it possible to identify the exact kind of 
disease and identify the treatment that will be 
the most effective for a given patient. 
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 Imaging phenomics opens a world of 
possibilities for the pharmaceutical industry as 
well as for health professionals. 

Today, the Median Technologies team includes a 
little more than 115 colleagues of whom a large 
part is dedicated to Research and Development 
activities and services.  

Multidisciplinary, these teams include scientists 
and engineers specializing in the processing of 
images, data management, project management 
and clinical development regulations. 

 

 

Since its inception, Median Technologies has 
been headquartered in the south of France, in 
the technology park of Sophia Antipolis, an 
environment that is particularly favorable to 
health industries. 

Having the strategic goal of strong international 
development, the Company is also present in the 
United States through its subsidiary Median 
Technologies Inc and in Asia through its 
subsidiary Median Technologies Hong-Kong Ltd. 

 

 

 History of the Company 

 

2002 - Median Technologies is founded in Sophia 
Antipolis, France. Up until 2007, Median enriches 
its technology, particularly by collaborating with 
technological and scientific institutes in medical 
imaging. 

2007 – All the software developed by the 
Company is integrated into a portfolio of LMS 
(Lesion Management Solution) clinical 
applications. LMS applications are first marketed 
in Europe and then in the U.S., following 
regulatory clearance from the FDA. 

2011 - This is a pivotal year for Median. The 
Company implements a new set of services 
specifically designed for the management of 
medical images during oncology clinical trials: 
Clinical Services are based on the technological 
heart of the LMS applications. 

The Company's shares are admitted for trading 
on the Paris NYSE Alternext market, based on the 
principle of direct listing with a reference price of 
€8.05 per share. 

2014 - Thirteen foreign institutional investors led 
by New Enterprise Associates (NEA), subscribe 
for an amount of €20m, 2,222,222 new shares for 

a subscription price of €9, as part of a capital 
increase by means of a private offering. 

2015 - Seven foreign institutional investors led by 
New Enterprise Associates (NEA), subscribe for 
an amount of €19.8M, 1,650,000 new shares for 
a subscription price of €12 each, as part of a 
capital increase by means of a private offering. 

2016 - Sees the start of R&D activity regarding 
imaging phenomics and Big Data. The project was 
named iBiopsy® and is the subject of a 
partnership with Microsoft France. The 
applications linked to imaging phenomics are 
eventually going to serve both markets in which 
Median is positioned, that of imaging in clinical 
trials and that of patient care.  

The rebranding of the Company carried out 
during 2016 led to the importance of imaging 
phenomics in the positioning of Median in its 
markets. In addition to changing its logo and 
completely overhauling its communication tools, 
Median Technologies chose as its tagline, "The 
Imaging Phenomics Company™". Median 
Technologies issues a capital increase in favor of 
Furui Medical Company Luxembourg in the 
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amount of 1,507,692 new shares for a 
subscription price of €13 each, for a total amount 
of €19.6M. This reserved capital increase is 
mainly going to make it possible for Median 
Technologies to develop new marketing 
opportunities for its products in China and 
Eastern Asia. 

2016 is also a pivotal year in terms of structuring 
the US subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. 
based in Woburn, MA. The year also sees major 
recruitments: 

• Ms. Jeanne Hecht, Chief Operating Officer of 
Median Technologies, who is responsible for 
defining and implementing the Company's 
global strategy. 

• Mr. Nicholas Campbell, Chief Commercial 
Officer, responsible for all business 

development and marketing activities and 
their implementation for the entire Company. 

2017 - The year sees the development of its 
subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. (30 
employees at the end of the year) and the 
opening of Median Technologies Hong Kong Ltd. 
The Group continued its redeployment with the 
arrival of: 

• Dr. Peter Bannister, Chief Technical Officer, 
Head of R & D for the Group. 

 
• Dr. Loan Hoang-Sayag, Chief Medical 

Officer, Head of Median Technologies 
Medical and Clinical Operations. 

The Group also saw the start of its first clinical 
partnerships for iBiopsy®.
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 History of fundraising since the Company's stock exchange floatation 

 

 

 

 

Date Historical record Number of shares Share capital                
(in €)

 Fund raising       
(in €) 

Share capital prior to listing 4,349,482 217,474.10 €          

Year 2011

- Capital increase in cash (Following this capital increase, the Company's shares were admitted on 
the NYSE Alternext in Paris according to the principles of a direct listing with a reference price of 
€8.05 per share);
- Shares issued following the exercice of founder's share warrants;
- Subscription of new shares in the company by Canon Inc. (15%);
- The Company issued 1 B preference share.

1,468,336 73,416.80 €                12,012,675.05 €         

Year 2012 - Shares issued following the exercice of founder's share warrants;                                                                                
- Two Mutual Funds for Innovation managed by OTC Asset Management subscribed new shares.

84,500 4,225.00 €                  821,200.00 €              

Year 2013 - Six Mutual Funds for Innovation were signed totaling 132,132 new shares at €10.60 per share. 132,132 6,606.60 €                  1,400,599.20 €           

Year 2014

- Capital increase in cash and conversion of the two current accounts mentioned through the issue 
of 2,222,222 shares with attached equity warrants priced at €9 per share, of which €0.05 is nominal 
value and €8.95 share premium;                                                                                                                    -  
E Preference shares issued following the exercice of founder's share warrants.

2,226,642 111,332.10 €              20,018,562.00 €         

Year 2015

- Capital increase via private placement with shareholders' preferential subscription rights waived 
for a total of €19,800,000, or 1,650,000 shares for a subscription price of €12.00 each, including a 
share premium of €11.95. The completion of the capital increase was recorded on July 15, 2015.                                                                                                                          
- Shares issued following the exercice of founder's share warrants;                                                                       
- E Preference shares issued following the exercice of founder's share warrants;                                                                                         
- Shares issued following the exercice of BSA.

1,754,325 87,716.25 €                20,667,943.50 €         

Year 2016

- Capital increase in cash through the issue of 1,507,692 shares with attached equity warrants 
priced at €13 per share, of which €0.05 is nominal value and €12.95 share premium;                                                                                                                                                               
- Shares issued following the exercice of founder's share warrants;                                                                           
- E Preference shares issued following the exercice of founder's share warrants;                                                                                         
- Shares issued following the exercice of BSA.

1,635,363 81,768.15 €                20,629,364.39 €         

January-17
The Company issued 24,609 new shares following the exercise of 24,609 warrants. These shares
were issued at a unit price of €6.50 including €0.05 of nominal value and €6.45 of share premium.
The Board of Directors recorded the completion of the capital increase on January 13, 2017. 

24,609 1,230.45 €                  159,958.50 €              

April-17
The Board of Directors of April 5th, 2017 recorded the issue of 500 new shares, following the
exercise of 2,500 warrants. These shares were issued at a unit price of €6.5 including €0.05 of
nominal value and €6.45 of share premium.

500 25.00 €                       3,250.00 €                  

June-17
The Board of Directors of June 26th, 2017 recorded the issue of 6,000 new shares, following the 
exercise of 30,000 warrants. These shares were issued at a unit price of €6.5 including €0.05 of 
nominal value and €6.45 of share premium.

6,000 300.00 €                     39,000.00 €                

June-17
The Company issued 6,180 preference shares following the exercise of 30,900 founder's share
warrants. These shares were issued at a price of €4.20 per share representing a nominal value of
€0.05 and €4.15 of share premium. Board of Directors of June 26th, 2017.

6,180 309.00 €                     25,956.00 €                

October-17
The Board of Directors of October 5th, 2017 recorded the issue of 2,200 new shares, following the
exercise of 11,000 warrants. These shares were issued at a unit price of €6.5 including €0.05 of
nominal value and €6.45 of share premium.

2,200 110.00 €                     14,300.00 €                

October-17
The Board of Directors of October 5th, 2017 recorded the issue of 162,523 new shares, following
the exercise of 162,523 free Shares. These shares were issued at a €0.05 of nominal per share by
taking on the special reserve.

162,523 8,126.15 €                  -  €                           

December-17
The Board of Directors of December 13th, 2017 recorded the issue of 11,000 new shares, following
the exercise of 55,000 warrants. These shares were issued at a unit price of €6.5 including €0.05 of
nominal value and €6.45 of share premium.

11,000 550.00 €                     71,500.00 €                

December-17
The Company issued 111,111 new shares following the exercise of 222,222 warrants. These shares
were issued at a unit price of €9.00 including €0.05 of nominal value and €8.95 of share premium.
The Board of Directors recorded the completion of the capital increase on December 13, 2017. 

111,111 5,555.55 €                  999,999.00 €              

Share capital as of December 31, 2017 11,974,903 598,745.15 €          
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 Shareholding structure as of December 31, 2017 

 

 

 History of the option plans for share subscription 

1. Summary Table 

 

 

3/10/2009 186,256 5/20/2010 170,000 3/9/2019 110,000 - 5,000 75,000 30,000 6,000 6.50 300.00
12/7/2009 1,061,309 12/7/2009 1,061,309 12/6/2019 716,329 - 282,847 30,900 402,582 80,516 4.20 4,025.80

4/1/2011 100,000 4/1/2011 99,950 3/31/2021 74,950 - 5,000 23,500 46,450 9,290 6.50 464.50
BSPCE 1,347,565 1,331,259 901,279 - 292,847 129,400 479,032 95,806 4,790.30

4/1/2011 100,000 4/1/2011 5,000 - - - - - - - - -
12/15/2011 60,000 12/14/2018 60,000 - 60,000 - - - 9.00 -

7/5/2012 34,000 7/4/2019 14,000 - - - 14,000 14,000 10.00 700.00
4/5/2012 200,000 7/5/2012 5,970 7/4/2019 3,970 - - - 3,970 3,970 10.00 198.50

10/3/2013 10,000 10/2/2020 10,000 - - - 10,000 10,000 10.60 500.00
6/22/2017 300,000 6/26/2017 22,500 6/25/2024 - 22,500 - - 22,500 22,500 13.00 1,125.00

12/13/2017 34,500 12/12/2024 - 34,500 - - 34,500 34,500 13.00 1,725.00
Stock Options 600,000 171,970 87,970 57,000 60,000 - 84,970 84,970 4,248.50

3/10/2009 24,609 3/10/2009 24,609 3/10/2019 24,609 - - 24,609 - - 6.50 -
6/6/2013 60,000 6/6/2013 60,000 12/31/2020 60,000 - - - 60,000 60,000 8.04 3,000.00
6/6/2013 20,000 6/6/2013 20,000 12/31/2020 20,000 - - - 20,000 20,000 8.04 1,000.00

9/29/2014 2,222,222 9/30/2014 2,222,222 9/29/2021 2,111,112 - - 222,222 1,888,890 944,445 9.00 47,222.25
BSA 2,326,831 2,326,831 2,215,721 - - 246,831 1,968,890 1,024,445 51,222.25

6/16/2016 162,523 7/22/2016 162,523 ND 162,523 - - 162,523 - - - -
6/16/2016 162,522 7/22/2016 162,522 ND 162,522 - 10,000 - 152,522 152,522 - 7,626.10
6/16/2016 186,873 10/6/2016 186,873 ND 186,873 - - - 186,873 186,873 - 9,343.65
6/16/2016 186,872 10/6/2016 186,872 ND 186,872 - - - 186,872 186,872 - 9,343.60

Free Share 698,790 698,790 698,790 - 10,000 162,523 526,267 526,267 26,313
Total 3,903,760 57,000 362,847 538,754 3,059,159 1,731,488 86,574.40

Number of 
corresponding 

shares

Number of 
securities valid 

not exercised 
12/31/2016

Number of 
securities 

cancelled non 
subscribed on 

2017

Number of 
securities 

exercised on 
2017

Number of 
securities valid 

not exercised 
on 2017

 Exercise price 
per share

Potential 
increase in 

capital 
(nominal)

Number of 
securities 

allocated on 
2017

Date of the General 
Meeting

Number of 
authorised 

securities

Grant date of 
securities

Number of 
securities 
allocated

Exercise limit 
date
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2. History of the Warrants and Free Shares 

Free Shares 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Free Shares History Allocation           
Date

Acquisition 
Period

Variable 
retention 

Period

" AGA-2016A"
The Board of Directors of July 22, 2016 decided to award 162,523 free shares ("the AGA 2016 A"): the
acquisition period will be of a duration of one year at the date of awarding the free shares, and the
retention period will be one year following the end of the acquisition period.

July-16 July-17 July-18

" AGA-2016B"

The Board of Directors of July 22, 2016 decided to award 162,522 free shares ("the AGA 2016 B"): the
acquisition period will be of a duration of two year at the date of awarding the free shares, and the
retention period will be one year following the end of the acquisition period. 10,000 free shares were
cancelled on the first half-year 2017.

July-16 July-18 July-19

" AGA-2016C"

The Board of Directors of October 06, 2016 and that of November 04, 2016 decided to award 186,873 
free shares (the "AGA 2016 C").                                                                                                            
Acquisition Period: Acquisition is definitive if the following conditions are fulfilled cumulatively (the 
"Cumulative Conditions"):                                                                                                                                  
(i) At the end of an acquisition period having a duration of one (1) year following the date of 
awarding, and
(ii) If the acquisition conditions below are fulfilled:
(a) if the Beneficiary continues to have the capacity of company representative or employee of either 
the Company or the US Subsidiary, depending on the case, up until the last day of the acquisition 
period, and 
(b) the occurrence of at least one of the three events below before December 31, 2026: the Company 
shares become listed on a regulated market in the United States and/or in France, or a firm and 
irrevocable acquisition offer involving at least 51% of the Company's capital is made, or the 
beneficiary receives a firm and irrevocable offer for 100% of the securities that it holds, including the 
AGA 2016 C.
Variable retention period: At the end of the acquisition period and if the acquisition conditions 
specified above are fulfilled, the Beneficiary will be the holder of the AGA 2016 C. However, he is 
obliged to keep them during a variable period determined by the plan.

October-16
Cumulative 
Conditions

Under the 
specified Plan

" AGA-2016D"

The Board of Directors of October 06, 2016 and that of November 04, 2016 decided to award 186,872 
free shares (the "AGA 2016 D").                                                                                                                    
Acquisition Period: Acquisition of the AGA 2016 D will be definitive if the following conditions are 
fulfilled cumulatively (the "Cumulative Conditions"):                                                                                                                     
(i) At the end of an acquisition period having a duration of two (2) years following the allocation 
date, and
(ii)  If the acquisition conditions below are fulfilled:
(a) if the Beneficiary continues to have the capacity of company representative or employee of either 
the Company or the US Subsidiary, depending on the case, up until the last day of the acquisition 
period, and
(b) the occurrence of at least one of the three events below before December 31, 2026: the Company 
shares become listed on a regulated market in the United States and/or in France, or a firm and 
irrevocable acquisition offer involving at least 51% of the Company's capital is made, or the 
beneficiary receives a firm and irrevocable offer for 100% of the securities he holds, including the AGA 
2016 D.
There are no retention periods for the AGA 2016 D.

October-16
Cumulative 
Conditions

No
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Warrants 

 

 

  

Warrants Historical record Subscription 
Date

Expiry                
Date

"2009 A Warrant"

NVF Equity Limited signed a share warrant, for an amount of €16k, released in full by offsetting
debt in 2009. The warrant is exercisable at any time after completion of the issue for a 10-year
period ending March 10, 2019. The warrant entitles acquisition of 24,609 ordinary shares at an
exercise price of €6.50.

March-09
Exercise in 

January 2017

"2013 warrants"

The General Meeting on June 6, 2013 decided to issue 80,000 securities giving access to capital
having the characteristics of equity warrants (2013 warrants). Each 2013 warrant was subscribed
at a price of €0.80. The funds for this subscription were released in the second half of 2013. The
unit price of exercising the 2013 warrants is the average price during the 40 trading days
preceding the June 6, 2013 General Meeting, or €8.04 per share. The life term of these warrants
expires December 31, 2020.

June-13 December-20

"2014 warrants"

The General Meeting of September 29, 2014 decided that the issue of 2,222,222 warrants would
result in a capital increase of up to €56k by the issue of 1,111,111 ordinary Company shares, with
a nominal value of €0.05 each at the rate of two warrants exercised for one new share. The
exercise price per share is €9 issue premium included. In July 2015, 111,110 warrants were
exercised and resulted in 55,555 shares being issued. The Board of Directors of October 1st, 2015
recorded the increase of capital for a total of €2,777.75. In November 2017, 222,222 warrants
were exercised and resulted in 111,111 shares being issued. The Board of Directors of December
13rd, 2017 recorded the increase of capital for a total of €5,555.55. It remains 1,888,890 warrants.
The life term of these warrants expires September 2021.  

September-14 September-21
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MANAGEMENT REPORT, CORPORATE MANAGEMENT 
REPORT AND OTHER RESOLUTIONS REPORTS

 Management Report 
 COMPANY ACTIVITIES 

During FY2017 the Company's revenues were €7,686 K. 

During this financial year, the Company continued its marketing development in the field of clinical trials 
thanks to its partnership with Quintiles (first CRO worldwide) but also thanks to new partnerships with 
other CROs. The Company continues to invest significantly to develop its commercial network (in the U.S., 
Europe and Asia), improve its tools in order to anticipate growth and to improve the quality and 
productivity of the services rendered as part of clinical trials. 

At the same time, the Company also invested in its own service offering for patient care and its iBiopsy® 
imaging platform. Imaging Phenomics will be at the heart of individualized medicine, which is the medicine 
of the future. Indeed, we know today that each kind of disease has its own specific "signature", which may 
be extracted from medical images using powerful algorithms, which when correlated to Big Data make it 
possible to identify the exact kind of disease and identify the treatment that will be the most effective for 
a given patient. Imaging phenomics opens a world of possibilities for the pharmaceutical industry as well 
as for health professionals. 

These investments in marketing, administration, operations and R&D, explain the increase in the level of 
losses, despite strong growth in revenues. The purpose of Median Technologies is and remains above all 
to become a key player in the world of medical imaging and to translate this purpose into increasing the 
Company's value. 

During the 2017 financial year, the Company comprised an average of 84 employees. The social climate 
within the Company seems excellent. Under its internationalisation and development efforts, the 
Company has made many hires over the period and has also seen the departure of senior executives. With 
its new organisation, the Median Group should be able to achieve its ambitious objectives from an 
operational, technical and financial point of view. 

Median Technologies Hong Kong Limited was created on April 13, 2017, to enable future development of 
the Company in Asia. The Company intends to intensify its action on this region of the world in which the 
development of society is essential today. The subsidiary did not have any activity over the period.  

The Extraordinary General Meeting of June 22, 2017, by the 30th resolution, authorized the Board of 
Directors to grant, pursuant to Articles L.225-177 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, options giving 
right to the subscription common shares of the Company to be issued (hereinafter the "stock options"). 
The option plans that were adopted by the Board of Directors on June 26, 2017 and December 13, 2017 
are the subject of a specific report. 

The key figures for the financial year are as follows: 
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 Revenues for the financial year came to €7,686 K compared to €6,353 K for the previous financial year.
 Operating income was €7,951 K compared to €6,740 K for the previous financial year. 
 Operating expenses were €24,248 K compared to €15,589 K for the previous financial year. 
 The operating loss was (€16,296 K) compared to (€8,849 K) for the previous financial year. 
 Financial earnings were (€113 K) compared to €50 K for the previous financial year. 
 The extraordinary result came to (€19 K) compared to (€11 K) for the previous financial year. 
 The financial year ended with net pretax accounting loss of (€15,089 K) compared to (€7,746 K) for the 

previous financial year. 
 The financial result includes a financial burden of €109 K equal to the depreciation of the increase of 

the current account held by the Company in MEDIAN Technologies Inc., its US subsidiary. 
 The net pretax accounting income includes a research tax credit of €1,340 K. This amount is related to 

the 2017 calendar year. 
 At December 31, 2017 the Company had €27,859 K in available cash compared to €41,639 K for the 

previous financial year. 
 Wages and salaries amounted to €6,469 K compared to €4,595 K for the previous financial year. 
 Social security contributions and social charges amounted to €3,006 K compared to €2,123 K for the 

previous financial year. 

The Company's financial liabilities at the end of 2017 amounted to €4 K. The OSEO repayable advances, 
concluded as part of an innovation aid, have been fully reimbursed. 

 
 FUTURE PROSPECTS 

The Company's order book came to almost €22,5 M compared to €16 M the previous financial year. 

The Company's order shows that the Company’s turnover should continue to increase in the coming years, 
especially in the field of clinical trials for which pharmaceutical companies entrust to us their imaging 
component. In addition, the Company will continue to market its solutions to institutions such as hospitals, 
anti-cancer health centers and clinics of Western European where we already have references and in Asia 
with the main focus on China. 

 

 PRESENTATION OF THE ACCOUNTS 
1. Corporate Financial Statements 

The financial statements for the financial year ended December 31, 2017 that we are submitting for 
approval have been drawn up in accordance with the rules of presentation and valuation methods 
specified by current regulations. The presentation rules and the valuation methods used are identical to 
those for the previous financial year. 

 
2. The Consolidated Financial Statements (IFRS standards) 

We remind you that even if there is no legal obligation, following the commitments made in terms of the 
Subscription Agreements entered into by the Company on August 19, 2014 and July 2, 2015, the Company 
also prepared the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS standards. 
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 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 

In 2017, the Company continued to develop its IT solutions. Median has strengthened its R&D activities 
for its three product lines:  

 iBiopsy®, its Phenomics imaging platform, which is at the heart of the company's strategy for the 
years to come,  

 iSee® for image analysis and management in clinical trials and,  
 MediScan® for medical analysis in the routine radiological care.  

 

In terms of R&D for these three lines of business, Median Technologies intends to combine medicine, cloud 
computing and artificial intelligence with medical imaging technology to revolutionize the way medicine is 
developed and delivered. 

 

 ALLOCATION OF THE RESULT 

It is proposed to allocate the financial year loss in the amount of €15,089 K to the "loss carried forward", 
which would then reach a negative amount of €28,172 K. 

In accordance with the provisions of Article 243 bis of the [French] General Tax Code, we remind you that 
no dividend was distributed for the previous three financial years. 

 

 OTHER INFORMATION 

1. Significant events since the end of the financial year 

No major events have occurred since the end of the financial year. 

2. Activity of the Company's subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. 

The Company owns the entire share capital and voting right of Median Technologies Inc. The U.S. 
Subsidiary comprised 30 employees as of 31 December 2017. During the financial year, the turnover of the 
U.S. Subsidiary amounted to $6,789 K (i.e. €6,010 K). Similarly, to the previous financial year, MEDIAN 
Technologies Inc.’s turnover is due to the introduction in 2014 of a "cost-plus" contract between the parent 
Company and its subsidiary. Thus, the total turnover in 2017 corresponds to the invoicing of costs to the 
Company. 

The Company also owns the entire share capital and voting right of Median Technologies Hong Kong Ltd. 
The HK Subsidiary currently has no employees. The opening of this Hong Kongese subsidiary should allow 
us to directly apprehend the Asian markets and supervise all operations carried out in the region for clinical 
trials but also to develop new opportunities in the field of patient care. 
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3. Equity investments during the financial year 

On April 13, 2017, the Company established a Hong Kong-based subsidiary named Median Technologies 
Hong Kong Limited to enable the future deployment of the Company's Asian operations. 

4. Transfer of shares and cross-shareholding 

NONE 

5. Existence of a stock option plan and various transferable securities issued - Employee profit 
sharing (in €) 
 

a) The Chairman recalled that the Board of Directors of the Company dated 30 September 2014, pursuant 
to the issuance decided by the Extraordinary Shareholders’ General Meeting dated 29 September 2014 
issued 2.222.222 shares with “BSA 2014” share warrants attached which were subscribed by sixteen 
investors.  
The Board of Directors dated 13 December 2017 acknowledged the issue of 111,111 new shares as a result 
of the execise of 222,222 BSA 2014” warrants.  The exercise price of the BSA 2014 amounted to EUR 9 
euros per share, including with a par value of EUR 0.05 hence; a total subscription price of EUR 999,999 
including EUR 5,555.50 in par value.  
 
b) The Board of Directors on 22 July 2016, using the powers granted by the Shareholders’ General Meeting 
dated 16 November 2016 (Resolution 24), decided to allocate 162,523 “AGA 2016 A” free shares to the 
following beneficiaries: 
 

 
 
The Board of Directors dated 5 October 2017 acknowledged the definitive acquisition of these 162,523 
“AGA 2016 A” free shares by the above-mentioned beneficiaries. 
 
c) During the first quarter of 2017, the Company issued 500 new ordinary shares following the exercise of 
2,500 “BSPCE” warrants. These shares were issued at a price of EUR 6.50 per share, including EUR 0.05 par 
value and EUR 6.45 in premium, for a total of EUR 3,250, including EUR 25 of capital and EUR 3,225 of 
premium. On 7 April 2017, the Board of Directors acknowledged the corresponding capital increase. 
 
During the second quarter of 2017, the Company issued 6,000 new ordinary shares, following the exercise 
of 30,000 “BSPCE” warrants. These shares were issued at a price of EUR 6.50 per share, including EUR 0.05 
par value and EUR 6.45 in premium, for a total of EUR 39,000 including EUR 300 of capital and EUR 38,700 
in issue premium. On 26 June 2017, the Board of Directors acknowledged the corresponding capital 
increase. 
 
 

Fredrik BRAG 122,523  
Bernard REYMANN 30,000  
Arnaud BUTZBACH 10,000  
Total 162,523  

Acquisition

Beneficiaries AGA 2016 A 
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During the third quarter of 2017, the Company issued 2,200 new ordinary shares, following the exercise 
of 11,000 “BSPCE” warrants. These shares were issued at a price of EUR 6.50 per share, including EUR 0.05 
par value and EUR 6.45 in premium, for a total of EUR 14,300 including EUR 110 of capital and EUR 14,190 
in issue premium. On 5 October 2017, the Board of Directors acknowledged the corresponding capital 
increase. 
 
During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company issued 11,000 new ordinary shares, following the exercise 
of 55,000 “BSPCE” warrants. These shares were issued at a price of EUR 6.50 per share, including EUR 0.05 
par value and EUR 6.45 in premium, for a total of EUR 71,500 including EUR 550 of capital and EUR 70,950 
in issue premium. On 13 December 2017, the Board of Directors acknowledged the corresponding capital 
increase. 
 
Additionally, In June 2017, the Company issued 6,180 new preferred shares of class “E”, following the 
exercise of 30,900 “BSPCE” warrants. These shares were issued at a price of EUR 4.20 per share, including 
EUR 0.05 of par value and EUR 4.15 of premium, for a total of EUR 25,956, including EUR 309 in capital and 
EUR 25,647 of issue premium. The Board of Directors meeting of 26 June 2017 acknowledged the 
corresponding capital increase. 
 
d) Pursuant to the provisions of Article L. 225-102 of the French Commercial Code, we report the status of 
employee participation in the share capital on the last day of the financial year: Fredrik BRAG (Chief 
Executive Officer), Sebastien JACQUES, Bernard REYMANN, Nicolas DANO and Fabrice LAMY held a total 
of 3,99% of the share capital as of 31 December 2017.   

The summary of the issues and allocations of the different securities appears page 7, paragraph e. 

6. Information on the External Auditors 

We remind you that PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AUDIT, a simplified joint-stock company with a capital 
of € 2,510,460, with a registered office located at 63 rue de Villiers, 92200 Neuilly-Sur-Seine, registered at 
the Nanterre RCS under number B 672 006 483, an audit firm duly registered with the PCAOB is the 
Company’s Principal Statutory Auditor until the end of the Shareholders’ Meeting convened to deliberate 
in 2021 on the accounts of the financial year to close on 31 December 2020. In accordance with Article L. 
823-1 of the French Commercial Code, following the "Sapin II" law of December 9, 2016, the Company is 
no longer required to replace the Deputy Statutory Auditor as the Principal Statutory Auditor is a company 
which is not single member. 

7. Social and environmental consequences of the Company’s activity  

The Company’s activity does not have any impact on the environment. For the fiscal year ending on 31 
December 2017, the average number of employees is 84. As of 31 December 2017, the Company 
comprised 84 employees.  

8. Expenses nondeductible from taxes under Article 39-4 of the French General Tax Code 

Pursuant to Article 223 quarter of the French General Tax Code, we inform you that during the year closed 
on 31 December 2017, expenses nondeductible from corporate tax as provided for in Article 39-4 of the 
French General Tax code were incurred in the amount of €43,2 K the theoretical impact of which on 
corporate tax at the rate of 33.1/3% shall be €14,4 K. 
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9. Regulatory Agreements 

It is noted that the following agreements of the nature of those specified in Articles L.225-38 and following 
of the [French] Commercial Code, continued during the financial year ended December 31, 2017, without 
amendment: 

 Compensation of an employee who was a Company co-founder (end of contract in June 2017) 

Executive concerned: Mr. Gerard Milhiet, Executive Vice President, company employee and Director. 

Nature and purpose: Since October 1, 2011, Mr. Gerard Milhiet has held the office of Executive Vice-
President, an employee as per amendment no. 2 dated September 15, 2011 to his employment 
contract dated December 24, 2002 and its amendment no. 1 dated April 15, 2003. 

Terms: Mr. Gerard Milhiet's salary under his employment contract was €337 K for the financial year 
ended December 31, 2017. 

 

 Stock options awarded to a Company director 

Executive concerned: Mr. Oran Muduroglu, Company Director. 

Nature and purpose: Mr. Oran Muduroglu was awarded a certain number of stock options in 
accordance with a contract entered with the Company's subsidiary, Median Technologies Inc. 

Terms and Conditions: In accordance with this contract, Mr. Oran Muduroglu has the right to exercise 
his stock options under certain terms and conditions to obtain shares in Median Technologies Inc. 
(USA). Desirous of reserving the possibility of exchanging, in the form of compensation for 
contributions, the shares that Mr. Oran Muduroglu would hold in Median Technologies Inc. (U.S.) in 
the event that he exercised his stock options, the Company signed a contribution agreement with Mr. 
Oran Muduroglu, the terms of which stipulate that, as compensation for the contribution of his shares 
of Median Technologies Inc., Mr. Oran Muduroglu would be awarded a total of the Company's 25,108 
new ordinary shares. 

 

A ruling is requested on the regulatory agreements taking place during the financial year ended December 
31, 2017, in view of the special report of the External Auditors drawn up in accordance with Article L.225-
38 of the [French] Commercial Code. 

In accordance with the provisions of the last paragraph of Article L.225-102-1, we note that the 
agreements entered, directly or through an intermediary or intervening person between an executive or 
a major shareholder of the corporation and a company in which the Company owns either directly or 
indirectly more than half the capital during the financial year ended December 31, 2017 were the 
following: 

NONE. 
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10. Balance with terms of payment of accounts payable and receivable at the end of the financial 
year 

In application of Article D.441-4 of the [French] Commercial Code, below is the breakdown at the closing 
data of the last two financial years of the balance of the supplier liabilities by due date. 

 

 

11. Table of financial results of the Company during the last five financial years 

 

*Amounts not presented in thousands of Euros 

1 to 30 days 31 to 61 days 61 to 90 days More than 91 
days 

Total 1 to 30 days 31 to 61 days 61 to 90 days More than 91 
days 

Total

Number of invoices concerned 29 57

Total amount of invoices 
concerned 91,428 9,757 0 43,072 144,257 807,232 139,564 0 277,647 1,224,443

Percentage of total amount of 
purchases in the financial year 0% 0% 0% 0% 1%

Percentage of the turnover in 
the financial year 11% 2% 0% 3% 16%

Number of invoices excluded

Total amount of invoices 
excluded

Terms of payment used to 
calculate the payment delays

The reference terms of payment used (article L.441-6 or article L.443-1 of the Commercial Code)

Contractual deadlines : 30 days Contractual deadlines : 30 days

Invoices excluded relating to disputed liabilities and receivables or unrecorded

0 0

0 0

Article D.441.I.-1° : Received invoices unpaid at the 
reporting date and overdue

Article D.441.I.-2° : Issued invoices unpaid at the 
reporting date and overdue

Tranches of late payment

Period 12/31/2017 12/31/2016 12/31/2015 12/31/2014 12/31/2013
Duration 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months 12 months

599 583 501 413 302
11,974,903 11,650,780 10,016,117 8,261,092 6,034,450

7,686 6,353 3 885 1,518 1,203
-16,226 -8,266 -6,003 -5,367 -4,545 

-1,340 -1,064 -859 -978 -977 
-14,886 -7,202 -5,145 -4,390 -3,569 
-15,089 -7,746 -5,337 -4,844 -4,348 

- - - - -

- - - - -

-1.24 € -0.62 € -0.51 € -0.53 € -0.59 €
-1.26 € -0.66 € -0.53 € -0.59 € -0.72 €

- - - - -

84 74 54 44 45
6,469 4,595 3,772 2,807 2,747

3,006 2,123 1,705 1,336 1,343

Financial results for the last five years               
(In thousands of euros)

I- Financial position at the end of the Year
    a) Share Capital 
    b) Number of shares outstanding *

II- Operating Global results 
    a) Turnover (excluding tax and duties)
    b) Profit before tax, before amortization and depreciation
    c) Corporate income tax (tax credit)
    d) Profit after tax, before amortization and depreciation
    e) Profit after tax, amortization and depreciation
    f)  Amounts of dividends distributed
    g) Employee participation

III- Operating results (earnings per a share)
    a) Profit after tax, before amortization and depreciation*

    c) Amounts of employee related benefits

    b) Profit after tax, amortization and depreciation*
    c) Dividends paid per share *

IV- Staff
    a) Number of employees (average)*
    b) Amounts of the wages (total payroll)
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12. Transactions involving executive securities 

Transactions concerning executive securities occurring during the financial year ended December 31, 2017 
were as follows: 

 BSPCE 

 

 Definitive acquisition of 162,523 free shares AGA 2016 A  

On July 22, 2016, the Board of Directors, in accordance with the 24th resolution of the Extraordinary 
Shareholders' Meeting of June 16, 2016, decided to grant 162,523 free shares (Page 13). On October 5, 
2017, the Board of Directors noted the final acquisition by the beneficiaries of the 162,523 free shares of 
AGA 2016 A. 

13. Holding of share capital (Article L.233-13 of the [French] Commercial Code) 

The information received by the Company in application of Articles L.233-7 and L.233-12 is as follows: 

 

 

TRANSACTIONS ON DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES

Exercise of 30,900 BSPCE by Mr Gérard MILHIET

The Board of Directors of the Company dated December 7, 2009, pursuant to the issuance decided by the
Extraordinary General Meeting dated December 7, 2009, attributed to Mr. Gérard MILHIET 319,551 BSPCE.

Pursuant to the execution of his subscription form and the full payment of the said subscription, the Board
of Directors of the Company dated June 26, 2017 acknowledged the exercise by Mr. Gérard MILHIET of
30,900 BSPCE to subscribe to 6,180 newly issued shares « E », for a subscription price of €0.05 and an
issuance premium of €4.15, i.e. for a total price per share of €4.20, and a subscription of a total amount of
€25,956. 

Following his departure from the company on June 30, 2017, the remaining and unexercised BSPCEs became
obsolete.

PRIVATE INDIVIDUALS AND LEGAL ENTITIES 
HOLDING CAPITAL BY THRESHOLD                  
(ARTICLE L 233-13)

31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Private persons

None None None

Legal entities

Furui Medical Company 12.59%, more than one-tenth 12.94%, more than one-tenth

Celestial succesor Fund L.P. 10.90%, more than one-tenth None

DFJ ePlanet Ventures L.P. None 11.26%, more than one-twentieth

Abingworth bioventures VI L.P. 8.35%, more than one-twentieth 8.58%, more than one-twentieth

Canon Inc. 8.03%, more than one-twentieth 8.26%, more than one-twentieth

Growth Equity Opportunity Fund III LLC (NEA) 8.00%, more than one-twentieth 8.23%, more than one-twentieth

FCPR Auriga Ventures II 5.49%, more than one-twentieth 6.15%, more than one-twentieth
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14. Share buyback program 

We advise that during the financial year ended December 31, 2017 the number of shares bought and sold 
by application of Articles L.225-208 and L.225-209 of the [French] Commercial Code were respectively 
28,498 shares and 21,324 shares. 

The average price of purchases and sales came respectively to €11.05 and €11.61. 

These transactions did not give rise to brokerage fees. The number of shares listed in the Company's name 
at the close of the financial year was 20,981 shares. 

Their value at the close of the financial year, valued at the purchase price, was €223,5 K. Their nominal 
value was €0.05. 

They represent 0.18% of the share capital. 

The share price at December 31, 2017 was €9. An impairment provision amounting to € 34,6K was 
recorded. 

15. Annual balance sheet of the liquidity contract 

Under the liquidity contract granted to Aurel BGC by the Company on December 31, 2017, the following 
means would appear in the liquidity contract: 

 €205.8 K, 
 20,981 shares.  
 

16. Information on sensitive geographical areas and operating sub-sectors in the disclosure of the 
income to the market 

 

 

17. Specific Risk Factors 
 

a) Specific risks linked to the activity 
 

 Competition risks 

The market for clinical applications and clinical services involved in medical images is competitive. The 
Company cannot ensure whether emerging technologies may be developed by competitors having 
greater financial and industrial resources. 

CA France 184  255  (70)

CA USA/Canada 2,583  2,591  (8)

CA UK 3,549  3,139  410  

CA Autres exportations 1,370  368  1,002  

Total 7,686  6,353  1,333  

Chiffre d'affaires                                                
(En milliers d'euros)

12/31/2016 Variation 12/31/2017
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This could have a material adverse effect on the Company, its activity, its financial situation, its income, 
its development and its prospects. 

 Risks of commercial failure 

The more or less rapid acceptance by the market of the solutions and services offered by the Company 
will depend on various factors. 

Poor market penetration, resulting from one of these factors could have an unfavorable effect on the 
Company's activity, its prospects, its financial situation, its income and its development. 

 Risks of dependence with respect to present and future partners and strategic collaborations 

The accords entered with CANON Inc. in July 2011 and QUINTILES Limited in February 2012 are 
particularly important for the Company's development. Nevertheless, the Company does not consider 
itself dependent on its partners. 

 Risks linked to growth management 

The Company expects major growth. It will therefore have to adapt its structure and recruit personnel. 

The Company's inability to manage growth, or unexpected difficulties encountered during its 
expansion, could have a material adverse effect on its activity, its income, its financial situation and its 
prospects. 

 Risks related to the necessity of keeping, attracting and retaining key personnel 

The Company's success depends largely on the work and expertise of management members and key 
scientific personnel, and the loss of their skills and expertise could adversely affect the Company's 
ability to achieve its objectives. The Company's ability to attract and retain these key individuals could 
globally prevent it from achieving its objectives and have a material adverse effect on its activity, its 
income, its financial situation and its prospects. 

 Client Risks 

The Company does not consider itself as dependent on any laboratory in particular. By expanding its 
listing among large pharmaceutical laboratories, it furthermore affords itself the means to be less 
dependent on a restricted number of laboratories. Now, the Company is listed with five of the ten 
largest world laboratories. 

 Supplier Risks 

The Company has few purchases. None of the Company's suppliers has a prominent place, and all of 
them are easily ad rapidly replaceable. 

 

b) Legal and Regulatory Risks 
 

 Intellectual property risks 

It is important for the Company's activity that it be in a position to obtain and maintain the intellectual 
property rights that it possesses and have them respected. However, intellectual property rights might 
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offer only limited protection and not prevent illicit use of the technologies belonging to Median 
Technologies. 

 Risks linked to an increasingly strict regulatory environment 

As a medical system, the applications marketed by the Company are subject to very strict regulations 
in the United States through the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and in many countries. 

Any infraction of compliance obligations may bring about sanctions that are likely to significantly 
increase the costs borne by the Company, delay the development and marketing of products and 
services and have a material adverse effect on its activity, its income, its financial situation and its 
prospects. 

The company successfully underwent its first FDA audit in early 2017. 

 Risks linked to incurring its liability due to the software application 

The Company specifies well in its documentation that its applications are not diagnostic tools in 
themselves but that they are intended to help practitioners make their diagnosis. Nevertheless, we 
cannot exclude the fact that the Company's liability might be sought by one or another of its 
application's users. 

 

 Corporate Governance Report 

1. Method of exercising the company’s management 

In accordance with Article L.225-51-1 of the French Commercial Code, we inform you that your Board of 
Directors has, by decision dated June 26, 2017, confirmed the option of combining the functions of 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.  

As a result, Mr. Fredrik BRAG also assumes the office of Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 

In accordance with article 15 of the bylaws, this decision will last until the Board of Directors decides 
otherwise, ruling under the same conditions. However, the Board of Directors will also have to decide 
concerning the terms and conditions for the exercise of the Company’s management when appointing or 
renewing its Chairman. 

Unless the method of exercising the Company’s management is modified, this information will not be 
included in subsequent corporate governance reports. 
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2. Conditions under which Board work is prepared and organized 

The term of office for each director is three years.  

The Chairman:  

 prepares the documents with the Company’s internal services to the; 
 organizes and directs the work of the Board of Directors; 
 ensures, in particular, that the Directors have all information and documents necessary to the 

fulfillment of their duties; 
 ensures that representatives of employee representatives are regularly convened and have the 

necessary information and documents to fulfill their role. 
 

The Board of Directors has set up various committees whose role is to feed directors' thinking: 

• The Remuneration Committee. 

For the Board meetings, the Directors receive all the documents and information necessary for the 
fulfillment of their duties while outside of the Board’s meetings, the directors regularly receive all the 
valuable information concerning the Company. 

 

3. Information concerning directors 

 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article L. 225-37-4 of French the Commercial Code, attached you will find 
below the list of the duties and positions held in other companies by each of the directors of the Company. 

 

 

 

 

 

Exercised by / Companies Duties and/or functions Exercised by / Companies Duties and/or functions

Madame Jeanne HECHT
Median Technologies SA Chairman of the Board of Director Median Technologies SA Director 
Median Technologies Inc. Managing Director Median Technologies Hong-Kong Ltd. Director 
Median Technologies Hong-Kong Ltd. Director Monsieur Oran MUDUROGLU

Median Technologies SA Director 

Median Technologies SA Director Verily Managing Director
Abingworth LLP Member Monsieur Otello STAMPACCHIA

Abingworth Bioventures V GP Limited Director Median Technologies SA Director 

Abingworth Bioventures GP Limited Director Replimune LTD Director 

Abingworth CCD GP Limited Director Gossamer Bio Inc. Director 

Abingworth Second Partner Limited Director Trevi Therapeutics Inc. Director 

Chroma Therapeutics Limited Director Monsieur Kapil DINGHRA
Aimim Limited Director Median Technologies SA Director 
GammaDelta Therapeutics Limited Director Five Prime Inc. Director 
VirionHealth Limited Director Replimune Inc. Director 
Sientra Inc. Director Exosome Dianostics Director 
Proteon Therapeutics Inc. Director Autolus Director 

Monsieur Tim HAINES

Monsieur Fredrik BRAG
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Compensation of the Directors  

 Fredrik BRAG 
 

Mr. Fredrik BRAG, CEO of the Company has received for the financial year 2017 a gross compensation off 
performance bonus of €400 K. 

The Board of Directors, on the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee decided that Mr. Fredrik 
BRAG will receive €240 K as variable compensation based on the qualitative assessment of his performance 
for the year 2017, which shall be paid in 2018. Mr. Fredrik BRAG is covered by the GSC (social guarantee 
for company managers), the annual cost of which was €17K in 2017. 

A company car was also awarded to Mr. BRAG during the second semester of the 2017 fiscal year. 
 

 Jeanne HECHT 
 

Mrs. Jeanne HECHT, Director and Chief Operating Officer is also employed by MEDIAN TECHNOLOGIES Inc., 
the US subsidiary of the Company. Mrs. Jeanne HECHT exercises as of 7 November 2016 the functions of 
Chief Operating Officer as part of her employment contract. The employment contract of Mrs. Jeanne 
HECHT prior to her appointment as a Director, it does not constitute an agreement referred to in Articles 
L.225-38 and following of the Code of Commerce. 

The compensation allocated to Mrs. Jeanne HECHT under her employment contract was $400 K (i.e. €354,1 
K) for the year ended on 31 December 2017. A sum of $ 240 K (I.e. €200,1 K) has also been provisioned in 
the accounts of Median Technologies Inc. for the target bonus decided by the Remuneration Committee 
and will be paid in fiscal year 2018. It is reminded that during the 2017 financial year, Jeanne Hecht 
received $155 K gross under its sign-up bonus (or €125,6 K). 

 Gérard MILHIET 
 

Mr. Gérard MILHIET, Director, was also employed by the Company as detailed in paragraph 9. Regulated 
agreements. As Mr. Gérard MILHIET couldn’t be covered by unemployment insurance because of his 
office, he was covered by the GSC (social guarantee for company managers), the annual cost of which was 
€10 K in 2017. 

 

 Oran MUDUROGLU et Jacques SOUQUET 
 

Mr. Oran MUDUROGLU and Mr. Jacques SOUQUET, Directors of the Company have received in 2017 for 
the fiscal year 2016 attendance fees in the amount of €15 K each. It is noted that pursuant to payment of 
these attendances fees, the Company consequently has paid charges relating to these fees amounting in 
total to € 24K. 
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4. Agreements between a subsidiary and one of the Company’s Director or major shareholder  
 

It is recalled that the following agreement were pursued unchanged during the financial year ending on 
31 December 2017 (Page 15). 

 

5. Table of the Authorizations pertaining to capital increases  

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATE OF THE MEETING / PURPOSE MAXIMUM AMOUNT DURATION STATUS

General Meeting dated 22/06/2017– Resolution 24                                                                                                            
Authorization to be given to the Board of Directors to increase the share capital by issuance of shares or 
securities that are equity securities giving access to other shares or entitling the allocation of debt securities 
and/or securities granting access to the share capital of the Company with preferential right

€ 500,000
18 months, until 

2018/12/21
Unused

General Meeting dated 22/06/2017– Resolution 25                                                                                                               
Authorization to the Board of Directors to proceed with a capital increase by issuing shares, securities 
convertible into shares of the Company without preferential subscription rights in the context of a public 
offering

€ 500,000
18 months, until 

2018/12/21
Unused

General Meeting dated 22/06/2017– Resolution 26                                                                                                     
Authorization conferred to the Board to issue shares of the Company and securities giving access to shares of 
the Company, without preferential subscription rights of shareholders in the context of offers described in 
Section II of Article L.411-2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code

Statutory Limit under article 
L 225-136 3°) of the French 

Commercial Code 

18 months, until 
2018/12/21

Unused

General Meeting dated 22/06/2017– Resolution 27                                                                                                             
Authorization to be given to the Board of Directors to increase the share capital by issuance of shares and/or 
securities that are equity securities giving access to other shares or entitling the allocation of debt securities 
and/or securities granting access to the share capital of the Company without preferential right for the 
benefit of a category of persons in accordance with the provisions of Article L.225-138 of the French 
commercial Code

€ 300,000
18 months, until 

2018/12/21
Unused

General Meeting dated 22/06/2017– Resolution 28                                                                                                            
Authorization to the Board of Directors to increase the number of shares to be issued in the event of a capital 
increase with or without preferential subscription rights

 € 1.000,000 of maximum 
nominal amount of capital

18 months, until 
2018/12/21

Unused

General Meeting dated 22/06/2017– Resolution 29                                                                                                        
Authorization to the Board of Directors to grant to the beneficiaries it shall identify, in compliance with 
applicable laws and regulations, existing shares or shares to be issued up to a maximum of 10% of the share 
capital pursuant to Articles L. 225-197-1 and seq. of the French Commercial Code

The total number of free 
shares granted under this 
resolution may not exceed 
10% of the share capital at 
the date of their allocation 
by the Board of Directors. 

38 months, until 
2020/08/21

Unused

General Meeting dated 22/06/2017– Resolution 30                                                                                                         
Authorization to be given to the Board of Directors in order to grant stock options pursuant to articles L. 225-
177 and seq. of the French Commercial Code

300.000 new shares
38 months, until 

2020/08/21

Partial use by the 
Board on 26/06/2017 

for 22.500 stock 
options.                                

Partial use by the 
Board on 13/12/2017 

for 34.500 stock 
options. 
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 Other Resolutions Report 

 DIRECTORS TERM OFFICE 

We recommend you to give full discharge without reservation to all Directors, namely: 

 Mr. Fredrik BRAG, Chairman of the Board; 
 Mr. Oran MUDUROGLU, Director; 
 Mr. Otello STAMPACCHIA, Director; 
 Mr. Tim HAINES, Director; 
 Mrs. Jeanne HECHT, Director; 
 Mr. Kapil DINGHRA, Director. 

 
In addition, we inform you that the terms of office of Mr. Tim HAINES will expire at this General Meeting. 
Thus, the Board proposes to the Shareholders' Meeting the renewal of his term of office as Director of the 
Company for a period of 3 years, i.e. until the Shareholders' Meeting to be convened in 2021 to approve 
the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2020. Mr. Tim HAINES has indicated that he would accept the 
renewal of his term of office and was not subject to any measure or inability to prohibit him from doing 
so. 
 

 FIXATION OF ATTENDANCE FEES 

We propose to set at EUR 150.000 the maximum aggregate number of directors' fees to be divided among 
the Directors for the year 2018, and to give all powers to the Board of Directors for the purpose of deciding 
the terms of allocation of these attendance fees among the Directors. 

 

 APPROVAL FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS TO PURCHASE COMPANY SHARES 
PURSUANT TO THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE L.225-209 OF THE [FRENCH] COMMERCIAL CODE 

 

We propose that you approve the acquisition of many shares of the Company representing up to 10% of 
the share capital on the date of the General Meeting.It is specified that the number of shares taken into 
account in calculating this limit of 10% would correspond to the number of shares purchased in connection 
with a liquidity contract, deducting the number of shares resold during the approval period. The 
acquisition of these shares could be carried out by any means and particularly on the over-the-counter 
market, including by acquisition or sale of blocks of shares or the use of financial derivatives or option 
instruments and at the times the Board of Directors would select, and that the shares possibly acquired 
could be sold or transferred by any means in accordance with current legal provisions. 

The maximum unit purchase price of the shares will not have to be greater than twenty Euros (€20), subject 
to adjustments intended to take into account the impact of transactions involving the Company's capital, 
particularly the modification of the share nominal value, a capital increase by incorporation of reserves, 
awarding of free shares, division or consolidating of securities, distribution of reserves or any other assets, 
amortization of capital or any other transaction involving company equity. 
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Consequently, the maximum amount that the Company would be likely to pay, on the assumption of 
purchase at the maximum price of €20, would come to about €23.9M, based on the capital at April 05, 
2017. 

This authorization for carrying out transactions regarding the Company's own shares would be conferred 
for purposes in particular of: 

 permitting the purchase of shares in connection of a liquidity contract complying with the AMAFI 
charter of ethics of March 8, 2011 recognized by the decision of the Financial Markets Authority (AMF) of 
March 21, 2011; 
 implementing any options purchase plan of the Company, in connection with the provisions of 

articles L.225-177 of the Commercial Code or any bonus award of shares in connection with the provisions 
of articles L.225-197-1 and following of the [French] Commercial Code; 
 delivering them during the exercise of any rights attached to transferable securities giving the right 

to repayment, conversion, exchange, presentation of a coupon or debt instrument that is convertible or 
exchangeable for Company shares or in any other way related to awarding of Company shares; 
 keeping them for the purpose of later turning them over by way of payment or exchange in 

connection with external growth operations complying with market practices acceptable to the Financial 
Markets Authority AMF); 
 canceling them for the purposes notably of optimizing unit income in connection with a decrease 

in share capital; 
 implementing any market practice that would come to be accepted by the Financial Markets 

Authority, and more generally, carrying out any transaction complying with the regulations in effect. 

We propose that you grant us such authorization for a period of eighteen (18) months following the date 
of the General Meeting. 

This authorization would, at the date of the General Meeting, end the effect of any previous authorization 
having the same purpose. 

Furthermore, we propose that you authorize the decrease in share capital in liaison with the above-
mentioned transaction.
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INDIVIDUAL ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 
 

 Balance Sheet at December 31, 2017 

 

 

 

 

Notes 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Intangible assets 2 236 278
Property, plant and equipment 3 427 345
Financial assets 4 550 393

Total non-current assets 1,212 1,016
Inventories 5 - 3
Advances and supplier prepayments 69 16
Trade receivables 6 1,944 1,738
Other receivables 6 2,332 1,755
Cash and cash equivalents 7 27,859 41,639

Total current assets 32,203 45,151

Miscellaneous assets 8 545 407

33,961 46,574TOTAL ASSETS

ASSETS (in thousands of euros)

Notes 31/12/2017 31/12/2016

Share capital and share premium 53,743 52,422
Reserves 8 16
Retained losses (13,083) (5,337)
Net loss for the period 22 (15,089) (7,746)

Total shareholders' equity 9 25,580 39,355

Other equity 10 - 456

Provision for risks and charges 11 697 696
Others 4 3

Financial liabilities 12 4 3
Advance payments received on orders 13 3,506 3,545
Trade payables 13 1,648 965
Taxes and social liabilities 13 2,282 1,443
Other debts 13 189 19

Other liabilities 7,624 5,971

Deferred income 14 56 93

TOTAL LIABILITIES / SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 33,961 46,574

LIABILITIES / SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (in thousands of euros)
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 Income Statement at December 31, 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

31/12/2017 31/12/2016
(12 months) (12 months)

Services 15 7,686 6,353
Other income 16 265 386

Operating income 7,951 6,740
Purchases net of change in inventories 40 26
Other purchased goods and services 17 13,932 7,938
Duties and taxes 259 241
Payroll expenses 9,475 6,718
Depreciation, amortization and provision charges 272 520
Other expenses 270 147

Operating expenses 24,248 15,589

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) (16,296) (8,849)

Financial income (expense) 19 (113) 50

Current profit (loss) before tax (16,410) (8,800)

Exceptional income (expense) 20 (19) (11)

Income tax 21 1,340 1,064

NET PROFIT (LOSS) 22 (15,089) (7,746)

Services for clinical pharmaceutical trials 7,612 6,217

Services for X-ray and other tests 75 136

INCOME STATEMENT                                                                                      Notes
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 Cash Flow at December 31, 2017 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
(12 months) (12 months)

Net profit (loss) * (15,089) (7,746)
Allowances net of amortization and depreciation 2,3,4 309 188
Change in operating working capital 652 (436)
Other items - 142

Net cash flow from operating activities (14,128) (7,852)
Acquisitions 2,3,4 (505) (330)
Change in non operating working capital - -
Other items - -

Net cash flow from investing activities (505) (330)
Issue of loans - -
Repayment of loans 12 (4) (58)
OSEO advances repayable 10 (456) (400)
COFACE 12 - (515)
Shareholders' current accounts - -
Share capital increase 9 1,322 20,640
Share capital increase (expenses) (8) (66)
Dividend paid - -
Other items - (14)

Net cash flow from financing activities 854 19,587

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 7 (13,779) 11,405

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 7 41,639 30,235

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 7 27,859 41,639

* Of which research tax credit: 21 1,340 1,024

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  (in thousands of euros) Notes
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 Notes Regarding Individual Annual Accounts
 

Median Technologies SA is a corporation under French law, subject to all of the texts regulating commercial 
companies in France. It has its head office at 1800, Route des Crêtes in Valbonne and is listed on the Paris 
Stock Exchange on Alternext.  

The balance sheet total for the financial year ended December 31, 2017 came to €33,961 K. Income 
statement for the financial year shows a loss off €15,089 K.  

The financial year has a length of 12 months. From January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017.

 

 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, RULES AND METHODS 

The annual financial statements at December 31, 2017, have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the French Commercial Code and the general accounting plan (ANC regulation 2014-03 
and n°2016-07 related to the PCG). General accounting conventions have been applied in compliance with 
the principle of prudence, in accordance with basic assumptions: continuity of operation, permanence of 
accounting methods from one financial year to another and independence of the financial years, in 
accordance with the general rules for preparing and submitting annual financial statements. 

 

1 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets are valued at their acquisition cost, less rebates and discount or reductions, or at 
production cost. 

A depreciation is recognized when the present value of an asset is less than its net accounting value. 

Development costs 

Upon the decision of management, these expenses for software design have not been accounted for in 
the balance sheet assets. 

Amortization 

 
 

2 – TANGIBLE ASSETS 

Tangible assets are valued at their acquisition cost, less settlement rebates and discounts and reductions, 
or at production cost. A depreciation is recognized when the present value of an asset is less than its net 
accounting value. 

 

Patents, licences, brandts Straight-line 1-5 years

DURATIONIntangible Assets BASIS
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Amortization 

 
 

3 – INVENTORY 

Computer equipment inventories are initially recognized at purchase cost before cost. The purchase cost 
is composed of the purchase price and carrying charges for the purchase. 

4 – CLAIMS 

Claims are valued at the nominal value. A depreciation provision is applied when the inventory value is 
less than the net accounting value. 

5 – CONVERSION OF DEBTS AND RECEIVABLES INTO FOREIGN CURRENCIES 
 
The conversion of debts, receivables and cash in foreign currencies is carried out as follows: 
 
 Conversion of all debts, receivables and cash in foreign currencies at the rates in effect at the 

closing (Bank of France); 
 Listing of discrepancies with respect to the original securities in the adjustment financial 

statements, whether asset or liability (differences in foreign exchange transactions); 
 Establishment of a provision for foreign exchange risk for latent losses after taking into account 

any possible neutralization of transactions that are the subject of a foreign exchange cover. 
 
6 – RETIREMENT COMMITMENTS 

The provision for retirement bonuses is based on the provisions specified in the collective bargaining 
agreement, namely the Syntec agreement. 

Calculation of retirement commitments is based on the method for projected credit units. 

Estimated future obligations have been determined on the basis of the discount rate applicable to first-
rate corporate bonds denominated in the currency of payment of future benefits and for which the 
duration is close to the average estimated duration of the retirement involved. The calculation takes into 
account mortality, staff turnover, projected future salaries and social contributions applicable to 
retirement benefits. 

7 – REVENUE RECOGNITION 

Revenues related to services offered and carried out at pharmaceutical companies are accounted for as 
performance and progress of the works take place. 

 

 

Developments on land not owned Straight-line 10 years
Vehicles Straight-line 5 years
Office equipment Straight-line 1-5 years
Office furniture Straight-line 8-10 years

Tangible Assets BASIS DURATION
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 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

 

The   amount of the intangible assets was €236 K at December 31, 2017.

 

 TANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

The amount of the tangible assets was €427 K of December 31, 2017. The equipment purchased during 
the period mainly concerns computer equipment made available to employees of the company. 

 

R&D software 788 - - - 788
Software excluding R&D 229 15 40 - 284
Licences 33 - - - 33
Big Data Software 14 - - - 14
Intangible assets under construction 40 62 (40) - 62
Total 1,104 78 - - 1,181

R&D software (718) (30) - - (748)
Software excluding R&D (73) (85) - - (158)
Licences (21) (5) - - (26)
Big Data Software (14) - - - (14)
Total (826) (120) - - (946)

ASSET                                                                       
(in thousands of euros)

AMORTIZATION                                                        
(in thousands of euros)

12/31/2016 Acquisitions
Sales / 

Disposals
12/31/2017

Recoveries 12/31/2017

Transfer  
accounts

Transfer  
accounts

12/31/2016 Provision

Developments on land not owned 94 - - - 94
Office equipment 22 23 - - 44
Transport equipment 14 - - - 14
Computer equipment R&D 197 42 - - 238
Computer equipment excluding R&D 555 172 - (4) 723
Office furniture 63 1 - - 65
Tangible assets under construction - - - - -
Total 945 237 - (4) 1,178

Developments on land not owned (50) (9) - - (60)

Office equipment (14) (3) - - (17)

Transport equipment (14) - - - (14)
Computer equipment R&D (178) (15) - - (193)
Computer equipment excluding R&D (308) (121) - 1 (428)
Office furniture (35) (4) - - (39)
Total (600) (152) - 1 (751)

Sales / 
Disposals

12/31/2017

AMORTIZATION                                                             
(in thousands of euros)

12/31/2016 Provision Recoveries 12/31/2017

12/31/2016
ASSET                                                                 
(in thousands of euros)

Transfer  
accounts

Transfer  
accounts

Acquisitions
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 FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

1 - FIXED ASSETS AND PROVISIONS

 
The changes for the period involved in the accounting positions linked to the liquidity contract of 
December 31, 2017 are as follows: 

 20,981 treasury shares acquired for €224 K (FIFO basis) and valued according to the Stock Market 
price of December 31, 2017 for €189 K. A provision of €35 K was recorded in the accounts. 

 Cash advanced and unavailable came to €206 K for an initial liquidity contract of €250 K. An 
additional €150 K was paid in December 2017. 

 

2 – SUBSIDIARY SECURITIES AND INVESTMENT

Median Technologies Hong Kong Limited was created on April 13, 2017, to enable the future deployment 
of the company's operations in Asia. The company intends to focus its efforts on this region of the world 
in which the development of society is essential today. 

Shareholdings 10 8 1
Other fixed securities 224 138 86
Loans 86 66 20
Other financial assets 274 189 86
Total 594 401 193

Shareholdings (10) (8) (1)
Other shares (35) - (35)
Total (44) (8) (36)

DEPRECIATION                                                             
(in thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

FIXED ASSETS                                                                
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Companies (+50% subsidiaries)                              
(In thousands)

Equity as at      
December 31, 

2017 

% Capital           
held

 book value of 
shares held  

Net revenue for 
the period

Net result for the 
period 

Dividends 
received during 

the period 

MEDIAN Technologies Inc. Dollars US (5,328) 100% 10,000  6,789  (482) 0  

MEDIAN Technologies Hk. Dollars HK (149) 100% 10,000  0  (159) 0  
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3 – RELATED COMPANIES 

 

We note that the current account and subsidiary investments are the subject of a depreciation provision 
of 100%. 

 

 INVENTORIES 

 
There is no more inventory in the accounts as of December 31, 2017. 

 

  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES AND OTHER CLAIMS 

1 – CLASSIFICATION BY DUE DATE 

 
 

2 – GOVERNMENT RECEIVABLES 

They amount to € 2,177 thousand and include: 

Financial holdings 10                                   - 
Provision for equity interest (10)                                  - 
Other receivables : current account € - Median Technologies Inc. 3,672                                   - 
Other receivables : current account $ - Median Technologies Inc. 657                                   - 
Other receivables : current account Hk - Median Technologies Hong-Kong 15                                   - 
Provision on the current account (4,344)                                  - 
Trade payables (400)                                  - 
Trade receivables 89                                   - 

(in thousands of euros)
Related 

companies

Undertakings in 
which the Company 

has a participating 
interest 

Computer equipment                         -                         -                         - 3  
Total                         -                         -                         - 3  

Inventories                                              
(In thousands of euros)

Gross value Depreciation
Net value at 
12/31/2017

Net value at 
12/31/2016

Trade and other receivables 1,944 1,944 -
Employee-related receivables 6 6 -
Social organisations 115 115 -
State institutions 2,177 2,177 -
Group companies and shareholders 4,344 - 4,344
Sundry debtors 9 9 -
Gross Total 8,595 4,252 4,344
Group companies and shareholders 
(Provision)

(4,344)

Total 4,252

Trade receivables                                       
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 Within one 
year

Within more 
than one year
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 A tax research credit for 2017 amounting to €1,340 K. 
 A VAT reimbursement request amounting to €220 K. 
 A VAT for liquidation amounting to €451 K. 

 
The tax credits are subject to a demand for immediate repayment under the mechanism for European 
small and medium-sized enterprises. 

 

3 – ACCRUED INCOME 

 

4 – UNREALIZED FOREIGN EXCHANGE LOSS 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss amount to €24 K for accounts with Median Technologies Inc. 

 

 CASH 

These concern seven bank current accounts in the amount of €27,848 K. Interest recognized and to be 
received comes to €10 K. The company opened new bank accounts with a new financial institution during 
the year. 

 

The bank account denominated in foreign currency is converted into Euros at the closing Bank of France 
rate. 

 MISCELLANEOUS ASSETS 

 
Prepaid expenses came to €545 K at December 31, 2017 and involve operating expenses. The amount on 
December 31, 2016 came to €407 K. 

 

Customers, invoices to raise 90  196  (106)

Social organisations 105  63  42  

Other 8  8  0

Total 204  267  (63)

Accrued revenue                                                 
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Accrued interest receivable 10 20 (10)

Short term deposits - - 0  

Liquid assets 27,848 41,619 (13,770)

Total 27,859  41,639  (13,780)

Cash and Cash equivalents                                            
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Accruals and prepaid expenses 545 407 138  

Total 545  407  138  

Adjustment accounts                                           
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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 EQUITY 

 

1 – TABLE OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

As at 31 December 2017, the company's share capital consisted of 11,974,903 shares divided between 
11,951,702 common shares with a par value of €0.05; 23,200 Class E preference shares with a value of 
€0.05 and 1 Class B preference share with a value of €0.05. The Class E preference shares are non-voting 
shares but enjoy the same financial rights as the common shares. The Class B preference share is reserved 
for a shareholding industrial investor and entitles the latter to be represented by a director on the 
Company's board of directors at any time. It is automatically converted into a common share if certain 
statutory clauses are fulfilled.  

 
 

2 – FINANCIAL YEAR FLUCTUATIONS 

The following changes occurred during the financial year (in €): 

 

The Company issued 24,609 new shares following the exercise of 24,609 warrants. These shares were 
issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium of €6.45. On 13 January 2017 
the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase.  

During the first quarter of 2017 the Company recorded the issue of 500 new shares following the exercise 
of 2,500 BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share 
premium of €6.45, amounting to a total of €3,250 including €25 in share capital and €3,225 in share 
premiums. On 5 April 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

Share Capital 583 16 - 599
Share Premium, reserves 51,759 1,306 - 53,065
BSA 2009 16 - - 16
BSA 2013 64 - - 64
Other reserves 16 - 8 8
Retained earnings (5,337) (7,746) - (13,083)
Result (7,746) (15,089) (7,746) (15,089)
Total 39,355 (21,513) (7,738) 25,580

12/31/2016 Acquisitions
Sales / 

Disposals
12/31/2017

Equity                                                                                     
(in thousands of euros)

Total at December 31, 2016 11,650,780  583  51,759  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSA) (Board 01/13/2017) 24,609  1  159  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q1/2017 (Board 04/05/2017) 500  0  3  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q2/2017 (Board 06/26/2017) 12,180  1  64  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q3/2017 (Board 10/05/2017) 2,200 0 14
Increase in capital (exercise of Free Shares) (Board 10/05/2017) 162,523  8  0  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q4/2017 (Board 12/13/2017) 11,000 1 71
Increase in capital (exercise of BSA) (Board 12/13/2017) 111,111 6 994  
Total at December 31, 2017 11,974,903 599 53,065

Capital Share 
premiums

Capital                                                                               
(In thousands of euros)

Decision Number of 
Shares
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During the 2nd quarter of 2017 the Company issued 6,000 new shares following the exercise of 30,000 
BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium 
of €6.45, amounting to a total of €39,000 including €300 in share capital and €38,700 in share premiums. 
On 26 June 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

In June 2017 the Company issued 6,180 new Class E shares following the exercise of 30,900 BSPCEs. These 
shares were issued at €4.20 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium of €4.15, 
amounting to a total of €25,956 including €309 in share capital and €25,647 in share premiums. On 26 
June 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase.  

During the third quarter of 2017 the Company recorded the issue of 2,200 new shares following the 
exercise of 11,000 BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and 
a share premium of €6.45, amounting to a total of €14,300 including €110 in share capital and €14,190 in 
share premiums. On 5 October 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital 
increase. 

The Company issued 162,523 new shares following the exercise of 162,523 free shares. These shares were 
created by releasing the par value of €0.05 per share by deduction from the special reserve for a total of 
€8,126. On 5 October 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase.  

During the 4th quarter of 2017 the Company issued 11,000 new shares following the exercise of 55,000 
BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium 
of €6.45, amounting to a total of €71,500 including € 550 in share capital and €70,950 in share premiums. 
On 13 December 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

The Company issued 111,111 new shares following the exercise of 222,222 2014 warrants. These shares 
were issued at € 9.00 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium of € 8.95. On 13 
December 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

New financial instruments during 2017 

The 30th resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting of 22 June 2017 authorised the Board of 
Directors to grant, pursuant to Articles L.225-177 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, a maximum of 
300,000 options giving the right to subscribe future common Company shares (hereinafter the “stock 
options”). 

The option plans that were adopted by the Board of Directors on June 26, 2017 and December 13, 2017 
include the following key terms: 

• Total number of stock options: 22,500 (June 26, 2017);  
• Total number of stock options: 34,500 (December 13, 2017); 
• Share subscription price: 13 euros per share; this price having been fixed according to the terms 

and conditions determined by the Extraordinary General Meeting of June 22, 2017, in accordance 
with the provisions of article L.255-177 of the French Commercial Code; 

• In the event that the beneficiary of the option plan becomes Chief Executive Officer, Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer or member of the Board of Directors of the Company, he will be required to hold 
25% of the shares resulting from the exercise of options up to the date of 'the cessation of those 
functions; 

• Term of validity of the options is seven (7) years from the date of grant by the Board of Directors; 
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• The regulation of the plan given to the employees contains the conditions for exercising the 
options, including the obligation to be an employee of the Company and/or one of the Group’s 
companies, as referred to in Article L. 225-180, para. 1 of the French Commercial Code, at the time 
of exercising the options. 
 

The stock options were mainly offered to employees of the US subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. 

 

   OTHER EQUITY 

 

An OSEO advance related to the resolution of May 28, 2008 (LESIO Phase I) 

 The first repayments took place between April 2012 and December 2016 for a total amount of 
€1,400 K. Following an amendment of 11 July 2013, the last installment was paid in January 2017. 
The advance was fully repaid during the financial year. 

An OSEO advance related to the resolution of September 17, 2009 (LESIO Phase II) 

 Quarterly repayments took place between March 2012 and June 2017 for a total amount of 
€1,256 K. The last installment was paid on the month of September 2017. The advance was fully 
reimbursed during the financial year. 

  PROVISIONS 
 
1 – TABLE OF CONTINGENCY AND LOSS PROVISIONS 

 

a) A provision for risk of € 43 K was set aside during the financial year following a litigation. 

b) A provision for foreign exchange loss of € 24 K has been recognized in inter-company accounts with 
the subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. 

c) A reversal of provision for retirement benefits, mainly due to the departure of several executives of 
the company. 

Advance OSEO (LESIO Phase I) 100 - (100) -
Advance OSEO (LESIO Phase II) 356 - (356) -
Total 456  - (456) -

Less than one year -

Between 1 and 5 years -

More than 5 years -

Other Equity                                         
(En milliers d'euros)

12/31/2016 Increase
Decrease / 

Rebate
12/31/2017

Provision for risks (a) - 43 - - 43
Provision for exchange rate (b) 2 24 - (2) 24
Provision for charges (c ) 467 - - (35) 432
Provision for tax (d) 228 119 (148) - 198
Total 696  186  (148) (36) 697  

12/31/2017
Unused 

reversals 
Used                    

reversals 
Provision12/31/2016

Provisions of Risks and Charges                         
(In thousands of euros)
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d) A provision for tax of € 198 K was made following the allocation of free shares decided by the Board of 
Directors on July 22, 2016 for the benefit of French employees. This provision relates to the specific 
employer contribution, which amounts to 20% of the value of the shares on the date of acquisition, and 
which is due as of the month following the acquisition date, ie a first deadline for the 2016 AGMs. A in 
August 2017. The provision is spread over the vesting period defined in the plans. This provision was thus 
calculated by using the share price as at 31/12/2017 for the 2016 B AGMs, for which the vesting period 
runs until 22/07/2018. The 2016 AGA A were acquired by the Company's employees on 22/07/2017 and 
the corresponding provision was reversed over the financial year. 
 
2 – CONTINGENCY PROVISIONS: COMMITMENTS MADE REGARDING RETIREMENT 

 
The provision for retirement bonus is based on the requirements of the applicable collective bargaining 
agreement, namely the Syntec agreement. 

The assumptions used in determining this provision are as follows: 

 

The provision of the previous financial year was €467 K. 

 

  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 

At December 31, 2017 432 - 432

Total
Not                  

provided
Provided

Provisions of Risks and Charges                         
(In thousands of euros)

Discount rate 1.30% 1.30%
Salary increase rate 2.50% 2.50%
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%
Social security costs 46% 46%

Mortality table
 INSEE T68-Fm 

2008-2010
 INSEE T68-Fm 

2008-2010

Retirement ages
Between 62 

and 67 years
Between 62 

and 67 years

Basis of retirement
Voluntary 

retirement
Voluntary 

retirement

Turnover (average staff by age band) See Table 1 See Table 1

Employee benefits                                        
(Actuarial assumptions)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
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  OTHER LIABILITIES 

1 – STATEMENT OF LIABILITIES 

 

 

2 – ACCRUED EXPENSE 

 

The increase in social debts and social organizations mainly corresponds to the increase in provisions 
relating to bonuses and commissions. 
 

3 – ADVANCES AND DOWNPAYMENTS RECEIVED ON ORDERS 

Prepayments and deposits amounted to €3,506 K at 12/31/2017 and correspond to initial payments made 
by customers when a contract is signed (Advance Payment). Such advance payments are to be reimbursed 
in the event that the contract ends (end of clinical trial, cancellation). As of 12/31/2017, an amount of 
€966 K involves terminated contracts, for which repayment has not yet been made. 

 

Financial liabilities 3 4 (3) 4
Total 3  4  (3) 4  

Less than one year 4
Between 1 and 5 years -
More than 5 years -

12/31/2016 Increase
Reduction/ 

Rebate
12/31/2017

Financial liabilities                                  
(In thousands of euros)

Trade and other Payables 1,543 1,543 -
Employee-related liabilities 979 979 -
Social organisations 832 832 -
State institutions 471 471 -
Debts on fixed assets and other Payables 105 105
Other liabilities 189 189 -
Total 4,119 4,119 -

Other payables                                                     
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017
Within one 

year
Within more 

than one year

Suppliers and other payables 433 533  (100)

Accrued interest payable 4 3  1  

Social organisations 1,472 877  595  

State institutions 15 2  13  

Total 1,924 1,416  508  

Accrued liabilities                                                
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2016 Variation 12/31/2017
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4 - UNREALIZED FOREIGN EXCHANGE GAIN 

An unrealized foreign exchange gain was recognized in the amount of €8 K. It involves accounts payable 
in a foreign currency. This foreign currency debt is valued according to the Bank of France rate at the end 
of the month on the date of the account statements. 

 

  MISCELLANEOUS LIABILITIES 

Deferred revenues amounted to €56 K for software maintenance services recognized during the year but 
which will be applied during periods following 12/31/2017. 

  
 

 REVENUES 

 

Revenues from services provided to the pharmaceutical industry are recognized as and when services 
are performed. 

 

Advance Payments 3,506 3,545 (39)
Total 3,506 3,545 (39)

12/31/2017 Within one 
year

Within more 
than one year

Other payables                                                     
(In thousands of euros)

Deferred income 56 93 (37)

Total 56 93 (37)

Less than one year 40

Between 1 and 5 years 16

More than 5 years 0

Other liabilities                                                   
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2016 Variation12/31/2017

Services provided 7,678 6,337  1,342  

Licence sales 7 2  5  

Sale of goods 1 15  (14)

Total 7,686 6,353  1,333  

Variation 12/31/2017 12/31/2016
Turnover                                                                  
(In thousands of euros)

Turnover France 184 255  (70)

Turnover USA/CANADA 2,583 2,591  (8)

Turnover UK 3,549 3,139  410  

Turnover other export 1,370 368  1,001  

Total 7,686 6,353  1,331  

Turnover                                                              
(In thousands of euros)

Variation 12/31/2017 12/31/2016
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 OTHER INCOME 

These involve transfers of operating expenses, including: 

 €56 K for personnel costs (benefits in kind, repayments of social contributions and re-invoicing of 
training costs). 

 €124 K related to re-invoicing of external expenses to the company Median Technologies Inc. 
 €76 K corresponding to reversals of provisions relating to retirement benefits, other provisions for 

risks and charges and reversals of impairment losses on current assets. 

 OTHER PURCHASES AND EXTERNAL EXPENSES 

Other purchases and external expenses amounted to €13,932 K at 12/31/2017 compared with €7,938 K 
at 12/31/2016. 

The difference in charges of € 5,994 K essentially reflects: 

 a €3,085 K increase in expenses related to the Intercompany Service Agreement. A new 
agreement was entered into between the companies Median Technologies SA and Median 
Technologies Inc. that took effect on January 1, 2016, thereby amending the previous signed 
agreement;  

 the increase in recourse to subcontracting in pharmaceutical projects in the amount of €953 K 
related to the growth of the business and the implementation of a CTMS; 

 The increase in rent fees for an amount of € 197K; 
 The increase in expenses related to studies and research and scientific salons in the amount of 

€470 K; 
 The increase in the use of temporary staff in France and Asia for €244 K; 
 The increase in recruitment fees and fees related to various inspections and audits of the company 

amounting to €408 K; 
 The previous year, the cancellation of the Quintiles contract had favorably impacted the 

company's expenses for an amount of €472 K. 
 

 R&D COSTS 

R&D costs eligible for a research tax credit amounted to €4,174 K compared with a total of €24,248 K of 
operating expenses for the period. 

 

  FINANCIAL INCOME 

Financial expenses of €365 K were mainly justified by: 

 An additional provision for exchange rate losses of €24 K involving the current account balance 
with the subsidiary; 

 A provision for equity securities and the current account of the subsidiary Median Technologies 
Hong Kong Ltd for an amount of €16 K. 

 A provision relating to treasury shares for €35 K. 
 Foreign exchange losses in the amount of €290 K. 
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Financial income of €251 K mainly comprised: 

 €79 K in foreign exchange gains; 
 A provision reversal concerning the financial current account of the subsidiary for an amount of 

€109 K; 
 Interest of €40 K stemming from compensation from the bank current account (Maxi-cash), 
 The Company entered into a cash agreement called "Intercompany Treasury Agreement" with the 

company Median Technologies Inc. taking effect on the date of January 1, 2016. This cash advance 
is compensated at the minimum rate of 0.5% and is calculated using the Euribor 3 months rate. A 
charge in the amount of €22 K was recorded in the financial statements for the financial year. 
 

 EXTRAORDINARY INCOME 

The exceptional result was a loss of (€19 K), and it is made up principally of: 

 A favorable variance involving the liquidity contract in the amount of €19 K. 
 A provision for risks of a litigation to an amount of €43 K. 

 

 CORPORATE INCOME TAX 

1 - AMOUNT OF CLAIMS AND DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 

Reduction of the future tax liability is based on deficits carried over at December 31, 2017: 

 €78,962 K, which is a reduction in potential tax of €26,321 K (at the rate of 33 1/3%). 
 

2 - RESEARCH TAX CREDIT 

The tax profit entered into the account at December 31, 2017 came to €1,340 K. 

3 - COMPETITIVENESS AND EMPLOYMENT TAX CREDIT (CICE) 

The CICE tax credit amounted to €77 K, entered the financial statements at the end of the financial year. 
In the income statement it has been treated as a reduction in personnel expenses (social charges). This 
cash contribution will help finance new employment by the Company. 

 

 NET INCOME 

As of December 31, 2017, the net result was a loss of €15,089 K, which is a net result unit of -€1.26. 

Securities issued provided access to 1,731,488 ordinary shares issued on December 31, 2017 (Page 7). In 
the event of issue of all of the ordinary shares giving the right to transferable securities giving access to 
the share capital issued at December 31, 2017, earnings unit would be -€1.10. 
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 AVERAGE STAFF 

 

 

  ADMINISTRATIVE AND MANAGEMENT BODIES 

 

 

  COMMITMENTS 

SOFTWARE OPERATING LICENSES AND PATENTS 

Under licensing agreements with the University of Chicago, the Company has the following liabilities not 
yet recognized at December 31, 2017: 

Royalties equal to 1% of the revenue to be generated by the Company on the CAD-Lung software after 
Saturday, December 31, 2017. It should be noted that the agreement stipulates that the Company must in 
all cases pay the University of Chicago minimum royalties of $15 K every calendar year from 2017 on 
(provisioned at December 31, 2017). 

$45 K when the Company obtains authorization for sale of the CAD-Colon software either in the U.S., Japan 
or Europe and $30 K when cumulative CAD-Colon software revenues exceed $1,000 K; It should be noted, 
however, that early in 2009 the Company decided to discontinue sales of the CAD-Colon software. 

Royalties equal to 1.5% to 2% of the revenue to be generated by the Company on the CAD-Colon software 
after Saturday, December 31, 2017. Note that the agreement stipulates that the Company must in all cases 
pay the University of Chicago minimum royalties of $15 K every calendar year. It should be noted that as 
the Company, in agreement with the University of Chicago, has decided to discontinue sales of the CAD-
Colon software, the undertaking will be without effect unless the Company subsequently resumes sales of 
the software. 

  

Executives 78 72  6  8%

Employees 6 2  4  200%

Total 84 74  10  14%

Average Employees 12/31/2016 Variation (nb) Variation (%)12/31/2017

Wages and salaries (including social security contributions) 725 825 (100)

Wages and salaries to be paid  (including social security contributions) 323 136 187

Pension obligations - 38 (38)

Director’s fees 100 50 50

Total 1,148 1,049 99

Remuneration of senior directors                                                                      
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2016 Variation12/31/2017
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 Statement of Consolidated Financial Position 

 

 

 

* The figures at 31/12/2016 were reclassified by € 228K from the Current provisions line to the trade and other 
payables line (note 14). 

  

Notes 12/31/2017 12/31/2016*

Intangible assets 3 236 278
Tangible assets 4 500 361
Non-current financial assets 5 173 144

Total non-current assets 909 783
Inventories 6 - 3
Trade and other receivables 7 2,845 2,371
Current financial assets 8 206 123
Other current assets 9 1,893 1,498
Cash and cash equivalents 10 28,290 41,776

Total current assets 33,234 45,770

34,144 46,554TOTAL ASSETS

ASSETS (in thousands of euros)

Notes 12/31/2017 12/31/2016*

Share capital 12 599 583
Share premiums 12 53,145 51,839
Consolidated reserves (11,526) (4,474)
Unrealized foreign exchange differences (75) (100)
Net result (17,206) (9,111)

Total shareholders' equity 24,937 38,736

Of which the group share 24,937 38,736

Long and medium-term borrowings - -
Employee benefits liabilities 13 432 467
Deferred tax liabilities 16 347 351
Non-current other liabilities 18 1,069 1,126

Total non-current liabilities 1,848 1,944
Short-term financial debts 15 4 459
Trade and other payables 17 7,313 5,415
Current provisions 14 43 -

Total current liabilities 7,359 5,874

TOTAL LIABILITIES 34,144 46,554

Liabilities (in thousands of euros)
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 Statement of Consolidated Net Results 

 

 

 Statement of Other Items of the Consolidated Total Result (OCI) 

 
 

 

 

 

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
(12 months) (12 months)

Revenue 19 7,686 6,353
Other income 2 15

Revenue from ordinary activities 7,688 6,369
Purchases consumed (154) (109)
External costs 22 (9,169) (6,134)
Taxes (259) (240)
Staff costs 20 (14,869) (8,744)
Allowances net of amortization, depreciation and provisions (316) (390)
Other operating expenses (3) (10)
Other operating income - 2

Operating result (17,081) (9,256)
Cost of net financial debt (6) (17)
Other financial charges (230) (87)
Other investment income 119 172

Net financial result 23 (117) 68
Income tax (expense) 24 (8) 76

Net result (17,206) (9,111)

Net result, group share (17,206) (9,111)
Net result, non-controlling interests' share - -

Net result , Group share of basic and diluted earnings per share 25 (1.44) (0.78)

Consolidated income statement                                                                                                 Notes

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
(12 months) (12 months)

NET RESULT (17,206) (9,111)
Unrealized foreign exchange differences 25 (24)

Total items that may be reclassified 25 (24)
Actuarial gains and losses on defined benefits plans (27) (39)
Deferred taxes on actuarial gains and losses 7 11

Total items that will not be reclassified (19) (28)

OVERALL RESULT (17,200) (9,164)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (In thousands of euros) Notes
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  Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Share 
issue 

premium

Equity  
warrants

Total  
share 

premiums 

Treasury 
stock

Consolidated 
reserves

Other 
comprehensive 

income

Total 
consolidated 

reserves

501 31,299 80 31,379 -122 133 -45 -34 -76 -5,527 -26,243

Appropriation of the result prior period - -5,527 -5,527 5,527 -

Capital increase 12 82 20,460 20,460 - 20,542

Attribution of equity warrants - - -

Change in unrealized foreign exchange differences - - -24 -24

Variation in actuarial differences net of deferred taxes - -28 -28 -28

Result for current period - - -9,111 -9,111

Share-based payments - 1,067 1,067 1,067

Treasury shares - 33 33 33

Other reserves - 16 16 16

Set off the accumulated losses to the "share premium" - - -

583 51,759 80 51,839 -90 -4,312 -73 -4,474 -100 -9,111 38,736

Appropriation of the result prior period - -9,111 -9,111 9,111 -

Capital increase 12 16 1,306 1,306 - 1,322

Attribution of equity warrants - - -

Change in unrealized foreign exchange differences - - 25 25

Variation in actuarial differences net of deferred taxes - -19 -19 -19

Result for current period - - -17,206 -17,206

Share-based payments - 2,154 2,154 2,154

Treasury shares - -67 -67 -67

Other reserves - -8 -8 -8

Set off the accumulated losses to the "share premium" - - -

599 53,064 80 53,145 -157 -11,277 -92 -11,526 -75 -17,206 24,937

Consolidated 
result

Total 
Group shareholders Equity

(in thousands of euros)
Note 

Share 
capital

Share premiums Consolidated reserves Translation 
reserves
-Other 

comprehensive 
income 

01/01/2016

12/31/2016 *

12/31/2017
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 Consolidated Cash Flow Table 
 

  

  

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
(12 months) (12 months)

CONSOLIDATED NET RESULT 25 (17,206) (9,111)
Allowances net of amortization, depreciation and provisions 316 429
Share based payment 21 2,154 1,067
Gains and losses on disposals 4 -
Cost of net financial debt - 9
Tax charge for the period , including deferred tax 24 8 -76

OPERATING CASH FLOW  (14,724) (7,683)

Changes in operating working capital requirement 879 113

Net cash flow from operating activities (13,846) (7,569)
Outflows on acquisitions of intangible assets (78) (141)
Outflows on acquisitions of tangible assets (313) (336)
Inflows on disposal of tangible and intangible assets 2 1
Outflows on acquisitions of financial assets (114) (30)
Inflows on disposal of financial assets - 2

Net cash flow from investing activities (503) (506)
Capital increase or contributions 12 1,322 20,558
Contribution to the current account - -
Repayment of loans 15 (456) (983)

Net cash flow from financing activities 866 19,575

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 10 (13,483) 11,500

Cash and cash equivalents at start of the period 10 41,773 30,273

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 10 28,290 41,773

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (In thousands of euros) Notes
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 Notes to the financial statements under IFRS standards 
 

 OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITY AND MAJOR EVENTS 

1 – INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY AND ITS ACTIVITY 

MEDIAN Technologies (“the Company”) is a public company with a board of directors created in 2002 and 
domiciled in France. The Company’s registered office is located Les Deux Arcs - 1800 route des Crêtes – 
06560 Valbonne. 

The main areas of activity of the Company and its subsidiary (the group referred to as “the Group”) are 
software publishing and the provision of services in the field of medical imaging in the area of oncology. 
The Group develops and markets software solutions and offers services to optimise the use of medical 
images for diagnosing and monitoring cancer patients. 

The Company has been listed on the Alternext market in Paris since 2011. 

 

2 – MAJOR EVENTS DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 

Median Technologies Hong Kong Limited was created on 13 April 2017, to prepare for the future roll-out 
of the company's operations in Asia. The Company soon intends to ramp up its efforts in this region of the 
world, where the Company’s development has become essential. The Company had no activity during the 
period.  

Under its internationalisation and development efforts, the company has made many hires over the period 
and has also seen the departure of senior executives. With its new organisation, the Median Group should 
be able to achieve its ambitious objectives from an operational, technical and financial point of view. 

The Group has also implemented a Clinical Trial Management System (CTMS). This new tool will enable 
the company to increase productivity while also improving the company's information system. Costs 
related to implementing and using the software are recognised in expenses using the straight-line method 
over the duration of the contract. The contract with Medidata was concluded for a term of 5-years 

The 30th resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting of 22 June 2017 authorised the Board of 
Directors to grant, pursuant to Articles L.225-177 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, options giving 
the right to subscribe future common Company shares (hereinafter the “stock options”). 

The stock option plans adopted by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2017 and 13 December 2017 are 
presented in Note 12. 
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  ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, EVALUATION METHODS, IFRS OPTIONS APPLIED 

1 – PRINCIPLES APPLIED IN PREPARING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 were voluntarily 
prepared in accordance with the IAS/IFRS international accounting standards applicable at that date, as 
approved by the European Union, for all periods reported. 

The IFRS adopted by the European Union on 31 December 2017 is available in the Interpretations and 
IAS/IFRS standards section on the following website:  

http://ec.europa.eu/internal_market/accounting/ias/index_fr.htm 

The Group’s accounting policies and methods are described below:   

The Group's consolidated financial statements were prepared using the historical cost convention with the 
exception of certain categories of assets and liabilities, which are estimated at fair value. These categories 
are mentioned in the following notes. 

Principle obligatory standards, amendments and interpretations as at 1 January 2017: 
 

• Amendment to IAS 7 - Disclosure Initiative; 
• Amendment to IAS 12 - Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses; 
• Annual Improvements to the IFRS - Cycle (2014-2016) - Amendments to IFRS 12. 

 
The first application of these standards will not have a significant impact on the Group's financial 
statements. 
 
Principal standards, amendments and interpretations published by the IASB and adopted early by the 
European Union on 1 January 2017 

The Group did not apply the early adoption of these standards, amendments and interpretations in the 
consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2017. 

 
• IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments; 
• IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers; 
• Clarification of IFRS 15; 
• Annual Improvements 2014-2016; 
• IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration; 
• IFRIC 23 – Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments; 
• Article 16 – Leases. 
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IFRS 15: 
 
Regarding IFRS 15, the European Union adopted the standard on 22 September 2016. This standard is 
applicable for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 
The approach developed by IFRS 15 includes a sequence of 5 steps, from the identification of the contract 
with the customer to the recognition of revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied: 
 
Step 1: Identify the contract; 
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations; 
Step 3: Determine the transaction price; 
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price 
Step 5: Recognise the revenue. 
 
IFRS 15 therefore modifies the analyses to be conducted on turnover generated under licence agreements 
or the recognition of the revenue generated during the Group’s clinical trials. It replaces the existing 
provisions on income recognition, including IAS 18 “Revenue” and IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”.  
 
To date, the conclusion of our analysis of the impacts of the first-time application of IFRS 15 on the vast 
majority of the Group’s contracts in 2018 is as follows: 
The majority of Median Technologies turnover is from “Clinical Trials” service contracts, i.e. the sale of 
imaging services for oncology clinical trials using dedicated software. The notions of performance 
obligation and transaction price do not significantly modify the way in which the Group recognises 
turnover. As a result, Median Technologies does not expect any significant changes to either the date on 
which turnover is recognised or its amount. 
The Group's other income concerns the sale of software licences and the so-called “Clinical Routine” 
maintenance contracts related to them. This activity is yet not so large as to expect significant changes. 
Median Technologies will apply IFRS 15 from 1 January 2018 using the retrospective method. Thus, all 
periods will be reported in the financial statements for the 2018 financial year as if IFRS 15 had always 
been applied. Based on the analyses conducted to date, the application of IFRS 15 will not have a significant 
impact on either the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017. The 
turnover adjustments for 2017 are considered insignificant.  
 
 
IFRS 9: 
 
On 21 July 2014, the IASB finalised its project to replace IAS 39 on financial instruments by issuing the full 
version of IFRS 9. The latter introduces significant changes to the current IAS 39 standard: 
 

- The provisions relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets will now be based 
on the joint analysis of the business model for managing each asset portfolio and the asset’s 
contractual characteristics; 

- The impairment model has done away with the current approach based on incurred losses in 
favour of an approach centred on expected losses; 

- Finally, the hedging component includes many significant advances in favour of linking the 
company’s risk management policy to its financial reporting. 
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Given the nature of its operations, the Group does not expect any significant changes to the classification 
and measurement of its financial assets.  
 
IFRS 9 will be in force for fiscal years beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
 

Principal standards, amendments and interpretations published by the IASB and not yet applicable in the 
European Union on 1 January 2017 
 

In 2017, the principal published standards that are not yet obligatory in and not yet approved by the 
European Union are: 
 

• Amendments to IFRS 2 – Classification and measurement of share-based payment transactions; 
• Annual Improvements to IFRS – Cycle 2015-2017. 

 

The impact of these standards, amendments and interpretations, published by the IASB and not yet 
adopted by the European Union or applicable early within the European Union, on the consolidated 
financial statements is currently being assessed by the Management. 
 

The euro was selected as the Group's reporting currency. The consolidated financial statements are 
reported in thousands of euros, and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand unless otherwise 
stated.  
 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 5 April 2018. 
 

2 – USE OF JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES 

The Group made estimates, judgements and assumptions in order to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS; they were able to allocate the amounts reported under assets and liabilities, and 
contingent liabilities at the reporting date, and reported amounts under income and expenses for the year. 

These estimates are based on the going concern assumption and were prepared using the information 
available at the time they were prepared. They are continuously evaluated based on past experience as 
well as various other factors deemed to be reasonable, which form the basis of the assessments of the 
carrying value of the assets and liabilities. Estimates may be revised if the circumstances upon which they 
were based evolve or due to the effects of new information. Actual results could differ significantly from 
these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. 

 
The estimates and assumptions having a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
value of assets and liabilities during the subsequent period are analysed below. 
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(a) Share-based payments 

The Group grants options (share purchase warrants, BSPCEs (French share subscription warrants for 
company start-ups), etc.) to acquire Company shares and other equity instruments, as well as free shares 
for members of the Group’s management and employees. The fair value of share-based payments is 
determined based on a binomial option-pricing model that takes into account assumptions about complex 
and subjective variables. These variables include, among others, the fair value of the Company's securities, 
the expected volatility of the share price over the life of the instrument and the current and future 
behaviour of the holders of these instruments.  

 

(b) Recognition of the corporation tax 

The Group is subject to income tax in France and abroad in connection with its international operations. 
Tax laws are often complex and subject to different interpretations by the taxpayer and the relevant tax 
authority. The Group must make judgements and interpretations as to the application of these laws when 
determining provisions for taxes.  

Deferred tax assets corresponding mainly to tax loss carry-forwards are recognised only when it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available. The Group must use its judgement to determine the likelihood 
of future taxable profit. This analysis is made for each jurisdiction 
 

3 – SCOPE AND METHODS OF CONSOLIDATION 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiary, over which 
the Company has direct control. 

The Group controls a subsidiary when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the latter. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the time control is 
obtained until it ceases. 

The scope of our consolidation is as follows: 

 

The subsidiaries “Median Technologies Inc.” and “Median HK” are fully controlled and consolidated. 
Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated. The accounting methods of these subsidiaries are aligned with those of the Group. 

The Group has no minority interests or interests in an entity requiring treatment using the equity method.  

 

Name Country Registered 
office

Siret No (business 
identification number)

Consolidation 
method

% held

Median Technologies SA (parent) France France 44367630900042 Parent Parent

Median Technologies Inc. (subsidiary) United States United States Full  
consolidation

100%

MedianTechnologies Hong-Kong Ltd. 
(subsidiary) Hong-Kong Hong-Kong

Full  
consolidation 100%
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Since the subsidiaries were created by the Group, no goodwill has been recognised since the creation of 
these Companies. 

Median Technologies Hong Kong Limited was created on 13 April 2017, to prepare for the future roll-out 
of the company's operations in Asia. The Company soon intends to ramp up its efforts in this region of the 
world, where the Company’s development has become essential. 

 
This company is 100% owned by Median Technologies SA and is therefore included in the consolidation as 
at 31 December 2017. 

 

4 – FUNCTIONAL AND REPORTING CURRENCIES 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are evaluated using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The 
consolidated financial statements are reported in euros, which is the Company’s functional currency and 
the Group's reporting currency.  

 

5 – CONVERSION OF TRANSACTIONS DENOMINATED IN FOREIGN CURRENCIES 

(a) Transactions and balances  
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the current exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange losses and gains resulting from the completion of these 
transactions are recognised as profits or losses under “Financial Products” or “Financial Expenses” in the 
same way as those resulting from the conversion of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the current rates on the reporting date. 

 

(b) Group companies - Foreign operations 
The accounts of all Group entities, none of which operate in a hyperinflationary economy, whose 
functional currency is different from the reporting currency, are translated into the reporting currency as 
follows: 

• assets and liabilities are converted at their current value on the balance sheet date. 
• the income and expenses of each income statement item are converted at the average exchange rate; 

and  
• all resulting translation differences are recognised in “Consolidated reserves” as separate equity 

items under “Translation reserves”, which allows the conversion of share capital and reserves to be 
maintained at historical rates.  

When a foreign operation is sold, in whole or in part, and there is a loss of control or significant influence 
or joint control, the cumulative amount of the foreign exchange differences relating thereto shall be 
reclassified as profit or loss linked to the sale. If the group sells part of its interest in a subsidiary while 
retaining control thereof, a proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the foreign exchange 
differences is reallocated to non-controlling interests. When the Group sells only part of its interest in an 
associate or joint venture while maintaining significant influence or joint control, the corresponding 
proportionate share of the cumulative foreign exchange differences is reclassified as profit or loss. 
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(c) Net investment  
 

Receivables held with consolidated foreign subsidiaries for which payments are not predictable are 
considered net investments in foreign currencies. As such, and in accordance with IAS 21, the unrealised 
foreign exchange gains and losses on these functional currency receivables converted into euros for 
consolidation were recorded under other comprehensive income (OCI) and “Translation reserves”. When 
the net investment is sold, the amount of the differences relating thereto is reclassified as profit or loss 
linked to the sale. 

 

6 – DISTINCTION BETWEEN CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT 

The Group’s balance sheet reporting distinguishes between current and non-current assets and liabilities. 

The distinction between current and non-current items was made using the following rules: 

 the assets and liabilities constituting the operating working capital requirement are classified as 
“current” items; 

 assets and liabilities outside the normal operating cycle are reported as “current” or “non-current” 
depending on whether their maturity is more or less than one year. 

 

7 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at historical cost of acquisition or production by the Company and 
are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period generally ranging from 1 to 5 years. 

Impairment is recognised when an asset’s current value is less than its net book value. 
 

Research and development costs 

According to IAS 38 - Intangible Assets, development costs are recognised as intangible assets only if all of 
the following criteria are met:  
 

(a) it is technically feasible to complete the development project,  

(b) the Company intends to complete and commission the project,  

(c) the intangible asset can be commissioned,  

(d) the probability of future economic benefits attached to the asset is demonstrated,  

(e) the technical, financial and other resources to complete the project are available, and  

(f) the development expenditure can be reliably assessed.  
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In the Group's consolidated financial statements, research costs are currently recognised as expenses 
because the capitalisation criteria for development costs are not met. 
 

8 – TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

Tangible fixed assets are recognised at their historical acquisition cost. 

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment whose useful life is significantly different to those 
of the other parts is depreciated separately. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, taking into account their residual values where applicable: 

 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods of the assets are reviewed and modified, if 
necessary, at each year-end closing date. Such changes are treated as changes to estimates. 

 

9 – RECOVERABLE AMOUNT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS 

Assets with an undetermined useful life are not amortised and are tested annually for impairment. 
Amortised assets are tested for impairment whenever there is an internal or external indication that an 
asset may have lost value. 
 

The impairment test consists of comparing the net book value of the tested asset with its recoverable 
amount. The test is conducted at the level of the Cash-Generating Unit, which is the smallest group of 
assets that includes the asset and whose continued use generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those generated by other assets or groups of assets. 

 

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the asset's fair value less the cost of selling it, 
or its value in use, whichever is greater. 
 

Fair value less costs of disposal is the amount that can be obtained from the sale of an asset in an arm's 
length transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties, less the costs of disposal. 

 

 

Developments on land not owned Straight-l ine 10 years
Vehicles Straight-l ine 5 years
Office equipment Straight-l ine 1-5 years
Office furniture Straight-l ine 8-10 years

Tangible Assets BASIS DURATION
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Value in use is the current value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from continuing use of 
an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. Value in use is determined in general from 
estimated cash flows based on five-year plans or budgets. Cash flows beyond 5 years are extrapolated 
through the application of a constant or decreasing rate and discounted using long-term after-tax market 
rates, which reflect market estimates of the time value of money and specific risks pertaining to these 
assets. Terminal value is determined by discounting to infinity the last cash flow of the test. 

As at 31 December 2017, no non-current assets show signs of an internal or external impairment loss. 

 
10 – INVENTORY 

The Group’s inventory is mainly small computer equipment. Materials and merchandise are valued 
according to the FIFO rule and, by default, at the most recent purchase cost, which, given the quick 
turnaround times, is similar to the “first in - first out” method. Inventories are stated at their net realisable 
value if this is lower than their cost. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price under normal 
operating conditions less cost of sale. 
 

11 – TRADE RECEIVABLES AND DEPRECIATION 

Trade receivables are the amounts payable by customers for products sold and services rendered in the 
ordinary course of the Group’s business.  

Impairment is recognised when there is an objective indication (such as the probability of the debtor’s 
bankruptcy or significant financial difficulty) that the Group will not be able to recover the amounts due 
under the contractual terms of the invoice.   

 

12 – FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Financial assets are classified into four categories according to nature and ownership intention: 

 assets held to maturity; 
 financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; 
 loans and receivables; 
 assets available for sale. 

 
With the exception of assets measured at fair value through profit or loss, all financial assets are initially 
recognised at the cost corresponding to the fair value of the price paid plus acquisition costs. 

All standard purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on their settlement date. 

 

a) Assets held to maturity 
Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets that the Group has the intention and ability to hold to 
maturity. After initial recognition, these assets are measured at their amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less any losses in value. 
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b) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
They represent assets held for trading purposes, i.e. assets acquired by the company for the purpose of 
resale in the near future. These are measured at fair value and changes in fair value are recognised in profit 
or loss. Some assets may also be voluntarily classified in this category. 

c) Loans and receivables 
Non-current financial assets include advances and guarantee deposits granted to third parties. Advances 
and security deposits are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
listed on an active market. Such assets are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 
method. Gains and losses are recognised as profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised 
or impaired. 

d) Assets available for sale 
These represent all other financial assets. They are measured at fair value and changes in fair value are 
recognised in equity until the asset is sold, cashed or otherwise disposed of or until it can be shown that 
asset has lost value over a prolonged and significant period. In these cases, the profit or loss previously 
recorded under equity is transferred to profit or loss. 

Assets available for sale are tested for impairment when there is some indication of impairment losses. 
When the available-for-sale asset is an equity instrument, the impairment loss is definitive. Subsequent 
positive changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity. 

When the available-for-sale asset is a debt instrument, any subsequent appreciation is recognised in the 
income statement for the amount of the impairment loss previously recognised as profit or loss. 

Purchases and sales of financial assets are generally recognised on their transaction date. 

 

13 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

“Cash and cash equivalents” includes cash, bank deposits and other highly liquid short-term investments 
with original maturities not exceeding three months and not subject to a significant risk of changes in 
value.  

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, net cash includes cash and cash equivalents as defined above, 
net of current bank overdrafts. On the balance sheet, bank overdrafts are recognised in current financial 
liabilities. 
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14 – EQUITY 

Classification as equity depends on the specific analysis of the characteristics of each instrument issued. 
Common shares and preferred shares were therefore classified as equity instruments. 

Incidental costs directly attributable to the issue of shares or stock options are deducted from equity, net 
of tax. 

 

15 – SHARE-BASED PAYMENT 

The Group has set up a number of share-based compensation plans, for which the Group receives services 
from its employees. The fair value of the services rendered by employees in exchange for the grant of 
options and free shares is recognised as an expense in accordance with IFRS 2. The total amount to be 
recognised as an expense is the fair value of the instruments granted. 

The vesting conditions that are not market conditions or that are service conditions are included in the 
assumptions on the number of instruments likely to become vested. The total expense is recognised over 
the vesting period, which is the period during which all specified vesting conditions must be met. At the 
end of each year, the entity reviews the number of instruments that may become vested.  

If need be, it recognises in the income statement the impact of the revision of its estimates as hedging for 
a corresponding adjustment in equity (“Share-based payment”). The Company issues new shares when 
the instruments are exercised. The sums received when options are exercised are credited to “Share 
capital” (nominal value) and “Issue premium”, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

 

16 – PROVISIONS 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a current obligation (legal or implicit) as a result of past 
events and it is probable that an outflow of resources representing economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated.  

The estimated amount shown in provisions corresponds to the outflow of resources that the Group will 
have to incur to settle its obligation. 

If the impact of the time value of money is significant, provisions are discounted on the basis of a before-
tax rate reflecting the risks specific to the liability, if any.  

Provisions correspond to specifically identified risks and charges. 
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17 – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Pension plans, similar benefits and other employee benefits that are analysed as defined benefit plans 
(plans under which the Group undertakes to guarantee a defined amount or level of benefits) are 
recognised in the balance sheet on the basis of an actuarial valuation of the commitments at the reporting 
date.  

Retirement benefits are calculated using the projected unit credit method taking into account the related 
social charges. 

The current value of the obligation is determined by discounting future cash disbursements estimated on 
the basis of an interest rate on prime corporate bonds, denominated in the payment currency of the 
benefit, the maturity period of which is close to the average estimated length of the pension obligation 
concerned. The calculations also include mortality, staff turnover and future salary projections. 

Actuarial gains and losses are fully recognised in “Other comprehensive income” directly via equity. 

Contributions paid for plans that are analysed as defined contribution plans, i.e. when the Group has no 
other obligation than the payment of contributions, are recognised in expenses for the year. 

 
18 – TRADE CREDITORS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

Trade and other payables correspond to payment commitments for products or services contracted with 
suppliers as part of the Group's normal business.  

Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and then recalculated at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 

 

19 – REPAYABLE ADVANCES 

The Group receives a certain amount of public aid in the form of repayable advances. 

Repayable advances are recorded under “Long-term financial debts” and “Short-term financial debts”, 
depending on their maturity. In the event of a pronounced failure, the debt waiver granted is recorded as 
income. 

As regards financial advances granted at interest rates below the market rate and in application of the 
exemption offered under IFRS 1 – First-time adoption of IFRS, advances already obtained before the date 
of transition have not been not measured at fair value in accordance with IAS 39.  
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20 – FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Financial liabilities are divided into two categories and include: 

 financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost and; 
 financial liabilities recognised at fair value through profit or loss. 

 
a) Financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost 
 

Borrowings and other financial liabilities, such as contingent advances and advances and down payments 
received, are generally recognised at their amortised cost, calculated using the effective interest rate. 

Financial liabilities recognised at their amortised cost are initially recorded at the fair value of the amount 
received less directly attributable transaction costs. After their initial recognition, interest-bearing loans 
are calculated at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The fraction of the financial debt maturing in less than one year is reported under current liabilities. 

b) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
 

These are liabilities held for trading purposes, i.e. liabilities that are to be realised in the short term. They 
are measured at fair value and changes in their fair value are recognised in the income statement. 

 

21 – CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXES 

Tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior years are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and regulations used to determine these 
amounts are those that were adopted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance sheet and variable carry-forward method for all temporary 
differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying value on the balance sheet at 
the reporting date and on the carry-forwards. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised on the balance sheet when it is probable that taxable profit to which 
these deductible temporary differences, unused tax loss carry-forwards and unused tax credits can be 
applied will be available in subsequent years 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
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22 – TURNOVER 

Revenue corresponds to the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for goods and services 
sold in the normal course of the Group's activities. Revenue is net of value-added tax, product returns, 
rebates and discounts and net of intragroup sales. 

The Company recognises revenue when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable 
that future economic benefits will accrue to the business and specific criteria are met for each type of 
revenue: 

Revenue from service activities (“Clinical Trials”) 

The Group enters into service contracts in its “Clinical Trials” activity.   

Revenue from these services is recognised as profit or loss according to the degree of progress of the 
service at the reporting date. The degree of progress is evaluated according to the completion of different 
project milestones. 

 

23 – OTHER INCOME 

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and that 
all the conditions to which they are subject will be met. 

Due to its innovative nature the Group has received, since its creation, a certain number of grants and 
subsidies from the State and public authorities to finance its operations and specific hiring. 

These grants are recognised as revenue over the period where the related charges or expenses are 
recorded. 

When the grant is linked to an asset, it is reported as a deduction from the carrying amount of the asset 
and reported in profit or loss over the life of the depreciable asset via a reduced depreciation expense. 

 
24 – CIR (FRENCH RESEARCH TAX CREDIT) 

Research tax credits are granted to companies by the French government to encourage them to carry out 
technical and scientific research. Companies that have qualifying expenditure (expenditure for research 
conducted in France or, since 1 January 2005, within the European Community or another country having 
signed the Agreement on the European Economic Area and a tax treaty with France containing an 
administrative assistance clause) can either receive a tax credit to be used towards the corporation tax 
due for the fiscal year of the expenditure and the three subsequent years or, where applicable, receive a 
refund of its excess contribution. 
 

Research tax credits are assimilated with subsidies under the IFRS. The Group’s eligible expenditure for 
these research tax credits is mainly generated by personnel costs. The Group has therefore opted to 
classify the research tax credit as a reduction of personnel costs.  
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25 – LEASES 

Leases are recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract until the end of the lease term. 

 

26 – SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group's turnover is mainly generated in France and through exports. Research and development costs, 
production costs, regulatory expenditure and most marketing and administrative costs are expended in 
France. At this stage, these costs are not strictly allocated by geographic area where the Group's products 
are marketed. 

The Group's activity, which is now focused solely on the pharmacy business, has led the Group's 
management to monitor operations in a comprehensive and unified manner. The chief operating decision 
maker reviews results and operating plans and decides on resource allocation for the whole Group.  

The Group has thus identified just one operating segment that meets the criteria of IFRS 8. 

This may be reported differently in the future depending on the evolution of the Group's activities and 
operating criteria. 

 

27 – EARNINGS PER SHARE 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. 

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary 
shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of all 
dilutive potential ordinary shares. In the case of the Group, these are the share purchase warrants, free 
shares, BSPCEs (French share subscription warrants for company start-ups) and stock options issued. 
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 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

Intangible assets consist mainly of software licences purchased. Changes to the balances over the period 
can be analysed as follows: 

 

The main acquisitions of the year correspond to the acquisition of a computer solution "CISCO". 

 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

Changes to the balances over the period can be analysed as follows: 

 

 Acquisitions for the year consist mainly of the acquisition of computer equipment.  

 

Intangible Assets                                           
(In thousands of euuros)

Gross Value
Depreciation and 

amortization
Net value Gross Value

Depreciation and 
amortization

Net value

Patents, licenses, brands 1,119 (946) 173 1,064 (826) 238
Other intangible assets 67 (5) 62 45 (5) 40
Total 1,186 (950) 236 1,109 (831) 278

12/31/2017 12/31/2016

Intangible Assets                                           
(In thousands of euros)

Gross Value
Depreciation and 

amortization
Net value Gross Value

Depreciation and 
amortization

Net value

Opening Balance 1,109 (831) 278 967 (754) 213
Additions 78 - 78 141 - 141
Terminated, discarded - - - - - -
Changes in depreciation and 
amortization

- (120) (120) - (77) (77)

Effects of exchange fluctuations (1) 1 - 1 (1) (0)
Closing balance 1,186 (950) 236 1,109 (831) 278

12/31/2017 12/31/2016

Tangible Assets                                    
(In thousands of euuros)

Gross Value Depreciation and 
amortization

Net value Gross Value Depreciation and 
amortization

Net value

Construction, planning 94 (60) 34 94 (50) 43
Tangible assets under 1,200 (733) 466 911 (593) 318
Total 1,294 (793) 500 1,005 (644) 361

12/31/2017 12/31/2016

Tangible Assets                                    
(In thousands of euuros)

Gross Value Depreciation and 
amortization

Net value Gross Value Depreciation and 
amortization

Net value

Opening Balance 1,006 (644) 361 783 (527) 255
Additions 313 - 313 222 - 222
Terminated, discarded (13) - (13) (1) - (1)
Changes in depreciation and 
amortization

- (155) (155) - (115) (115)

Effects of exchange fluctuations (11) 6 (6) 2 (1) 1
Closing balance 1,294 (793) 500 1,006 (644) 361

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
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 NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 

  

Non-current financial assets have a maturity of more than 5 years.  

 

 INVENTORY   

 

There is no more inventory in the accounts as of December 31, 2017. 

 

 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

Trade and other receivables are broken down as follows:  

  

Given their maturity of less than one year, the fair value of trade and other receivables is equal to the 
carrying amount.  

The increase in trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 compared to the trade receivables balance on 
31 December 2016 is mainly due to the greater volume of business and increased billing in fiscal 2017. 
There is no provision for depreciation of trade receivables as at 31 December 2017 (€4k provision for fiscal 
2017). Other receivables as at 31 December 2017 consist mainly of deductible value-added tax.  

The customer balance in euros as at 31 December 2017 for each currency is broken down as follows: 

 
 

Guarantees and deposits 87 78 9

Loans 86 66 20

Total 173 144 29

Non-current financial assets                                
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Stock: goods - 10 (10)

Provision for inventory losses - (7) 7

Total - 3 (3)

Inventories                                              
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Customers 1,814 1,694 120

Other receivables 1,031 677 354

Total 2,845 2,371 474

Variation
Trade receivables                                              
(In thousands of euros) 12/31/2017 12/31/2016

Euros 905 726 179

USD 909 968 (59)

Total 1,814 1,694 120

Trade receivables by currency                                    
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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Following is the trade receivables maturity schedule as at 31 December 2017: 

 

 

 CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Current financial assets are broken down as follows: 

  

In May 2011, the Group set up a share management agreement with a certified facilitator during its IPO 
for a maximum of €250K. The purpose of this agreement is to maintain an orderly market. This mobilised 
cash is immediately available in case the service provider’s contract is terminated. The cash has a maturity 
of up to 1 year. In December 2017, an additional contribution of €150 K was made, bringing the total 
amount provided under the liquidity contract to €400 K. 

 

 OTHER CURRENT ASSETS  

Other current assets are broken down as follows: 

  

The research tax credit receivable recognised as at 31 December 2017 corresponds to the research tax 
income for expenditures during fiscal 2017.  

The receivable recognised as at 31 December 2016 corresponds to the research tax income for 
expenditures during fiscal 2016 and was received in October 2017. 

The Company has benefited from the research tax credit since its creation and this receivable is paid via 
refund by the tax authorities during the subsequent year.  
 

Trade receivables                                              
(In thousands of euros)

Total Not yet due 1 to 30 days 30 to 60 days 60 to 90 days

Customers 1,814 761 755 92 206

Cash mobilized as part of the liquidity contract 206 123 83

Total 206 123 83

Current financial assets                                                               
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Research tax credit 1,340 1,024 316

Export tax credit - 40 (40)

Prepaid expenses 553 416 137

Miscellaneous - 18 (18)

Total 1,893 1,498 395

Other current assets                                            
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation



P a g e  | - 66 -    

 

Annual Financial Report at December 31, 2017  

 

   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents at year-end are broken down as follows:  

 

 

 The cash balance in euros as at 31 December 2017 for each currency is broken down as follows:  

 

 

Following is the reconciliation between the amount of cash and cash equivalents shown in the balance 
sheet and the amount of net cash in the cash flow table:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Short term deposits - - -

Liquid assets 28,290 41,776 (13,486)

Total 28,290 41,776 (13,486)

Cash and cash equivalents                                         
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Euros 27,595 41,391
USD 635 385
GBP 59 -
Total 28,290 41,776

Cash and cash equivalents                                         
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016

Cash and cash equivalents 28,290 41,776 (13,486)

Bank overdrafts - (3) 3

Total 28,290 41,773 (13,483)

Net Cash and Cash flow                                  
(En milliers d'euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-current financial assets - 173 173
Trade and other receivables - 2,845 2,845
Current financial assets 206 - 206
Other current assets (excluding prepaid expenses) - 1,340 1,340
Cash and cash equivalents 28,290 - 28,290
Total 28,496 4,358 32,854

Non-current financial assets - 144 144
Trade and other receivables - 2,371 2,371
Current financial assets 123 - 123
Other current assets (excluding prepaid expenses) - 1,082 1,082
Cash and cash equivalents 41,776 - 41,776
Total 41,899 3,597 45,496

Long and medium-term borrowings - - -
Short-term financial debts - 4 4
Non-current other liabilities - 1,069 1,069
Trade payables and other liabilities (excluding 
deferred revenue) 

- 7,257 7,257

Total - 8,330 8,330

Long and medium-term borrowings - - -
Short-term financial debts - 459 459
Non-current other liabilities - 1,126 1,126
Trade payables and other liabilities (excluding 
deferred revenue) 

- 5,094 5,094

Total - 6,679 6,679

Class of financial assets by category                                
(In thousands of euros)

Stated at fair 
value

Loans and 
receivables

12/31/2017

Class of financial assets by category                            
(In thousands of euros)

Stated at fair 
value

Loans and 
receivables

12/31/2016

Class of financial liabilities by category                              
(In thousands of euros)

Stated at fair 
value

Liabilities at 
amortized cost

12/31/2017

Class of financial liabilities by category                         
(In thousands of euros)

Stated at fair 
value

Liabilities at 
amortized cost

12/31/2016
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   EQUITY 

1 – CAPITAL AND ISSUE PREMIUMS 

As at 31 December 2017, the company's share capital consisted of 11,974,903 shares divided between: 

 11,951,702 common shares with a par value of €0.05; 
 23,200 Class E preference shares with a value of €0.05 and; 
 1 Class B preference share with a value of €0.05.  

 
The Class E preference shares are non-voting shares but enjoy the same financial rights as the common 
shares. 

The Class B preference share is reserved for a shareholding industrial investor and entitles the latter to be 
represented by a director on the Company's board of directors at any time. It is automatically converted 
into a common share if certain statutory clauses are fulfilled.  

The changes that occurred during the 2016 and 2017 financial years are as follows: 

  

Movements in 2017: 

Capital increase resulting from the exercise of BSPCEs and share purchase warrants 

The Company issued 24,609 new shares following the exercise of 24,609 warrants. These shares were 
issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium of €6.45. On 13 January 2017 
the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase.  

During the first quarter of 2017 the Company recorded the issue of 500 new shares following the exercise 
of 2,500 BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share 
premium of €6.45, amounting to a total of €3,250 including €25 in share capital and €3,225 in share 
premiums. On 5 April 2017 the Board of Directors recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

Total at January 1, 2016 500,806  31,298,758  31,799,564  10,016,117  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q1/2016 1,592  254,728  256,320  31,841  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q2/2016 1,488  238,208  239,696  29,776  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) June 2016 330  27,390  27,720  6,600
Special reserve - -16,252  (16,252) -
Increase in capital in Cash 75,385  19,524,611  19,599,996  1,507,692  
Costs of increase in capital - -65,794  (65,794) -
Increase in capital (exercise of Warrant) 2,938  497,059  499,997  58,754  
Total at December 31, 2016 582,539  51,758,708  52,341,247  11,650,780
Increase in capital (exercise of Warrant) 1,230  158,728  159,958  24,609  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q1/2017 25  3,225  3,250  500  
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q2/2017 300  38,700  39,000  6,000
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) June 2017 - CAT. E 309  25,647  25,956  6,180
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q3/2017 110  14,190  14,300  2,200
Increase in capital (exercise of Free-shares) 8,126  - 8,126  162,523
Increase in capital (exercise of BSPCE) Q4/2017 550  70,950  71,500  11,000
Increase in capital (exercise of BSA) 5,556  994,443  999,999  111,111
Total at December 31, 2017 598,745 53,064,591 53,663,336 11,974,903

Capital                                                                                         
(In thousands of euros)

Capital Share 
premiums

Total Number of 
shares 
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During the 2nd quarter of 2017 the Company issued 6,000 new shares following the exercise of 30,000 
BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium 
of €6.45, amounting to a total of €39,000 including €300 in share capital and €38,700 in share premiums. 
On 26 June 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

In June 2017 the Company issued 6,180 new Class E shares following the exercise of 30,900 BSPCEs. These 
shares were issued at €4.20 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium of €4.15, 
amounting to a total of €25,956 including €309 in share capital and €25,647 in share premiums. On 26 
June 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase.  

During the third quarter of 2017 the Company recorded the issue of 2,200 new shares following the 
exercise of 11,000 BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and 
a share premium of €6.45, amounting to a total of €14,300 including €110 in share capital and €14,190 in 
share premiums. On 5 October 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital 
increase. 

The Company issued 162,523 new shares following the exercise of 162,523 free shares. These shares were 
created by releasing the par value of €0.05 per share by deduction from the special reserve for a total of 
€8,126. On 5 October 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase.  

During the 4th quarter of 2017 the Company issued 11,000 new shares following the exercise of 55,000 
BSPCEs. These shares were issued at €6.50 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium 
of €6.45, amounting to a total of €71,500 including € 550 in share capital and €70,950 in share premiums. 
On 13 December 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

The Company issued 111,111 new shares following the exercise of 222,222 2014 warrants. These shares 
were issued at € 9.00 per share including a par value of €0.05 and a share premium of € 8.95. On 13 
December 2017 the Board of Directors: recorded the completion of the capital increase. 

 

2 – TREASURY SHARES 

Under the share management agreement that was set up following the IPO, the company owns treasury 
shares and realises capital gains and losses on the sale and redemption of these shares. These shares, as 
well as the effect of the capital gains and losses realised on the sale and redemption of these treasury 
shares, are deducted from the consolidated reserves.  

As at 31 December 2017, 20,981 shares were cancelled as a reduction of the consolidated reserves for a 
total of (€ 157K). The amount allocated to the treasury shares reserve takes into account the value of the 
shares as well as the capital gains and losses realised on the movements of these treasury shares. 

These treasury shares are not intended to be awarded to employees under any free share plan; their only 
purpose is to manage the share price within the framework of the share management agreement.  

As at 31 December 2017, the Company holds no other treasury shares that have not been cancelled. 
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3 - STOCK OPTIONS AND FREE SHARE AWARDS 

Using the authorisation granted by several General Meetings, the Board of Directors issued the option 
plans described in Chapter "e. History of stock option plans”. 

The impact of share-based payments on the statement of comprehensive income is presented in Note 21. 
The financial instruments concerned by the share-based payment are the stock option plans and the free 
share plans awarded to employees.  

 

Characteristics and terms of the new stock option plans awarded on June 26 and 13 December 2017: 

 

The 30th resolution of the Extraordinary General Meeting of 22 June 2017 authorised the Board of 
Directors to grant, pursuant to Articles L.225-177 et seq. of the French Commercial Code, a maximum of 
300,000 options giving the right to subscribe future common Company shares (hereinafter the “stock 
options”). 

The terms of the option plan adopted by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2017 are as follows: 

• Total number of stock options: 22,500; 
• Share subscription price: 13 euros per share; 
• The term of the options is seven (7) years from the date of grant by the Board of Directors, i.e. up 

to and including 25 June 2024;  
• The vesting condition is 4 years of service;  
• One quarter of the options are exercisable per year from the award date; 
• The regulation of the plan given to the employees contains the conditions for exercising the 

options, including the obligation to be an employee of the Company and/or one of the Group’s 
companies, as referred to in Article L. 225-180, para. 1 of the French Commercial Code, at the time 
of exercising the options. 

The stock options were all offered to employees of the US subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. 

The terms of the option plan adopted by the Board of Directors on 13 December 2017 are as follows: 

• Total number of stock options: 34,500; 
• Share subscription price: 13 euros per share; 
• The term of the options is seven (7) years from the date of grant by the Board of Directors, i.e. up 

to and including 12 December 2024;  
• The vesting condition is 4 years of service;  
• One quarter of the options are exercisable per year from the award date; 
• The regulation of the plan given to the employees contains the conditions for exercising the 

options, including the obligation to be an employee of the Company and/or one of the Group’s 
companies, as referred to in Article L. 225-180, para. 1 of the French Commercial Code, at the time 
of exercising the options. 

 
The stock options were mainly offered to employees of the US subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. 

Note the cancellation of 60,000 stock options not subscribed in the 2017 financial year. 
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   COMMITMENTS TO STAFF 

1 – DEFINED-BENEFIT PENSION PLANS 

Employee benefit obligations consist exclusively of post-employment benefits.  

In France, the Company contributes to the national pension system and its retirement obligations to 
employees are limited to a lump-sum indemnity based on seniority and paid when the employee reaches 
retirement age. This retirement indemnity is determined for each employee according to seniority and last 
salary. This obligation under the defined-benefit pension plan has been provisioned. The Company does 
not have any defined-benefit pension plan assets. The amounts recognised in the balance sheet under 
defined-benefit obligations are as follows: 

  

 

a) Changes in commitments provisioned in the balance sheet 
The changes in commitments are broken down as follows: 

 

 

b) Actuarial assumptions 
The following actuarial assumptions are applied: 

  

Provision for employee benefits 432 467 (35)

Total 432 467 (35)

Employee benefits                                      
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Opening provision 467  367  
Current service cost (68) 54  
Cost of interest 6  7  
Charge in the year (62) 61
Benefits paid - -
Net actuarial (gains) / losses 27 39
Closing provision 432 467

Employee benefits                                      
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016

Discount rate 1.30% 1.30%
Salary increase rate 2.50% 2.50%
Inflation rate 2.00% 2.00%
Social security costs 46% 46%

Mortality table
 INSEE T68-Fm 

2008-2010
 INSEE T68-Fm 

2008-2010

Retirement ages
Between 62 

and 67 years
Between 62 

and 67 years

Basis of retirement
Voluntary 

retirement
Voluntary 

retirement

Employee benefits                                        
(Actuarial assumptions)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
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Assumptions referring to future mortality rates are based on statistical data published in France. 

A sensitivity analysis was conducted on this plan and on the key assumption of the discount rate. A change 
in this rate applied to this plan during the year would have had the following impact on the Group's gross 
commitment under the defined-benefit pension plan: 

 
As at 31 December 2017, the payment schedule for retirement payments over the next 15 years is 
estimated at €38 K. There are no plans to pay out benefits during 2018. 

 
2 – DEFINED-CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLANS 

In the United States, the Median Technologies Inc. subsidiary contributes to a defined-contribution plan 
whose commitment is limited to contributions paid in. The amount of expenses recognised for fiscal 2016 
and 2017 is insignificant.  

 

   CURRENT PROVISIONS  

Current provisions recorded in the consolidated balance sheet amount to: 

 

 

Changes to the provision balances over 2016 and 2017 are as follows: 

  

A provision for risk was established over the financial year following a dispute. 

It should be noted that the employer's contribution to free shares was reported in current liabilities as 
€228 K on 31 December 2016. This contribution falls within the scope of IFRS 2 and is settled via cash 
payment to the French social organisations. It thus meets the characteristics of debts due to staff and must 
thus be accounted for and reported under “Trade payables and other current liabilities”. 

The Group therefore reclassified the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016 as if this 
debt had been recorded and reported as €228 K under “Trade payables and other current liabilities”.  This 
reclassification has no impact on the Group's earnings and shareholders' equity as at 31 December 2016. 
 

Actuarial debt at 0,8% on December 483
Actuarial debt at 1,3% on December 432
Actuarial debt at 1,8% on December 387
Estimation duration (years) 23

Sensitivity to the discount rate                               
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017

Provision for risks and charges 43 - 43

Total 43 - 43

Current Provisions                                           
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Provision for risks and charges - 43 - - - - 43
Total - 43 - - - - 43

Current Provisions                                           
(In thousands of euros) 01/01/2017 Provision Used Recovred 12/31/2017

Variation in 
scope Other
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   LONG- AND SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

As at 31 December 2017, long and short-term financial liabilities are broken down as follows: 

 

 Long and short-term financial liabilities consist mainly of: 

 

OSEO advances: 

As part of its participation in the Innovation project, the Median Group benefited from three repayable 
advances granted by OSEO in 2009 for a maximum of €2,875 K.  

These advances were settled in fiscal 2017. Repayments are made according to the schedules provided at 
the time the advance contracts for the LESIO I and LESIO II projects were signed.  

This advance was granted without interest.  

Pursuant to the exemption provided for by IFRS 1 - “First-time adoption of IFRS”, these advances were not 
subdivided into a “subsidy” for the part corresponding to the remuneration of the advance obtained free 
of charge and a “financial debt”. The Group reimbursed €456 K during the financial year ended on 31 
December 2017 It received no other subsidies in fiscal 2017.  

  
   DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES  

The net deferred tax liability is broken down as follows: 

 

(1) A deferred tax liability was noted on the provision recognised in the Company's financial 
statements for the Company’s advances to its subsidiary. The provision for these advances was 

Long-term financial debt - - -

Short-term financial debt 4 459 (455)

Total 4 459 (455)

12/31/2016 Variation
Financial debts                                   
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017

OSEO advances - 456 (456)

Bank overdrafts 4 3 1

Total 4 459 (455)

Short-term financial debt                       
(In thousands of euros) 12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

    - charges temporarily non-deductible  - - -

    - tax losses carried forward (2) 748 761 (13)

    - consolidation adjustments of the following:
             . Retirement and pension 121 131 (10)

             . Intragroup provisions (1) (1,216) (1,243) 27

             . Miscellaneous - - -

Total (3) (347) (351) 4

Origin of deferred tax - net                                                                                         
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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deducted from the financial statements for tax purposes. These advances amounted to €4,344 K 
as at 31 December 2017 (€4,438 K as at 31 December 2016). 

(2) Deferred tax assets of €748 K (€761 K on 31 December 2016) were recognised as deferred tax 
liabilities taking into account the French tax legislation which limits the allocation of tax loss carry-
forwards to 50% of taxable profit for the financial year, this limitation being applicable to profits 
beyond 1 million euros. The Group did not activate all the tax losses that can be carried forward 
indefinitely in France. The balance of these non-activated tax losses amounted to €76,290 K on 31 
December 2017 (€59,754 K on 31 December 2016). 

(3) As deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for the Company only, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities have been offset. 

 

Deferred tax changes are as follows: 

 

 

Deferred taxes on income and other comprehensive income (OCI) are thus as follows: 

 

 
 
 
  

 

 

 

Deffered tax - net                                                                                         
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016

Opening balance (351) (440)
Deferred tax expense in profit or loss (4) 79
Tax expense deferred in other comprehensive 
income items

7 11

Closing balance (347) (351)

Net result OCI Net result OCI
    - charges temporarily non-deductible  - - - -
    - tax losses carried forward (2) (13) - (134) -
    - consolidation adjustments of :
             . Retirement and pension (17) 7 (2) 11
             . Intragroup provisions (1) 26 - 215 -
             . Miscellaneous - - - -
Total (3) (4) 7 79 11

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
Deffered tax - net                                                                                         
(In thousands of euros)
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 TRADE PAYABLES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

Trade payables and other liabilities are recorded at their amortized cost. 

They are broken down by nature, as follows: 

 

All trade payables and other liabilities have a maturity of less than one year. 

 
(1) The increase in trade payables as at 31 December 2017 compared to the trade payables balance 

on 31 December 2017 is mainly due to the greater volume of business in fiscal 2017. 
 

(2) Social liabilities relate to salaries, social charges and provisions for paid leave and include:  
 
A €198 K debt to the social welfare organisations (€228 K at the end of fiscal 2016, which has been 
reclassified, see Note 14). This debt corresponds to the specific employer contribution, which 
amounts to 20% of the value of the free shares granted at their vesting date, and which is due one 
month after the vesting date. This debt was calculated from the share price as at 31/12/2017. The 
debt is spread over the vesting period defined in the plans. 

 
(3) Deferred income mainly corresponds to services (on maintenance contracts) invoiced in advance. 

Income is recognised when the service has been rendered. 
 

(4) Payments received from clients less than one year in advance correspond to the initial payments 
paid at the time of signing “Clinical Trial” contracts. These advances operate as described in Note 
18 below. The balance of these advances as at 31 December 2017 remains stable in relation to the 
balance on 31 December 2016. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Supplier accounts payable (1) 1,153 966 187

Tax l iabil ities 471 242 229

Social security l iabil ities (2) 2,877 1,581 1,296

Supplier account payable on assets 105 18 87

Deferred income (3) 56 93 (37)

Short-term payment advances received by customer's (4) 2,502 2,492 10

Other payables 148 22 126

Total 7,313 5,415 1,898

12/31/2016 Variation
Trade and others payables                                                         
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017
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   OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   

As at 31 December 2017, other non-current liabilities are broken down as follows: 

 

Other non-current liabilities correspond to advances received from customers at the beginning of “Clinical 
Trial” contracts. These advances are allocated to customer invoicing as the services are performed and are 
recognised as turnover. They are refundable in case of discontinuation of the clinical trial.  The amount of 
non-discharged advances as at 31 December 2017 was €3,571 K; advances less than one year old are 
classified under “Trade payables and other current liabilities” and amount to €2,502 K (see Note 17 above).  

 
   TURNOVER 

1 - TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA AND BY TYPE OF PRODUCT 

 

 Geographical areas are broken down by object.  

Turnover is broken down by country as follows: 

 

 

The Group's turnover was €7,686 K in fiscal 2017 compared to €6,353 K in the previous year, an increase 
of 21%. The increased activity in 2017 confirms the management's objectives, thanks to the continuation 
of current contracts and the start of contracts signed with pharmaceutical groups in the context of clinical 
trials at the end of last year and during 2017.  

The Group does not consider itself dependent on any particular laboratory. It intends to expand its 
presence daily and increase its business with major pharmaceutical companies. To date, the Group is 
referenced with most major international laboratories. However, the Group notes that one of its main 

Long-term payment advances received by 
customer's

1,069 1,126 (57)

Total 1,069 1,126 (57)

Non-current other liabilities                                  
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

France Export Total France Export Total
Services 184 7,495 7,678 254 6,083 6,337 1,341

Sale of l icenses - 7 7 - 2 2 5

Sale of goods 1 - 1 - 14 15 (14)

Total 184 7,502 7,686 254 6,099 6,354 1,331

Revenue                                                
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
Variation

Revenue France 184  255  (71)

Revenue USA 2,583  2,591  (8)

Revenue UK 3,549  3,139  410  

Revenue other areas 1,370  368  1,002  

Total 7,686  6,353  1,333  

Variation
Revenue split by geographic areas                                             
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
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customers accounted for 53% of its 2017 turnover through various clinical studies conducted with different 
sponsors. There were 12 sponsors with an average turnover of €343 K per sponsor. 

 
   PERSONNEL COSTS  

The details of the personnel costs are broken down as follows: 

 

The research tax credit corresponds to a government subsidy based on expenses incurred in the context 
of research and development.  

Expenses incurred by the Group in this area and eligible for the research tax credit mainly correspond to 
personnel costs, which explains the allocation of the research tax credit to personnel costs.  

Research & Development expenses eligible for the research tax credit amounted to €4,174 K in 2017 
compared to €3,212 K in 2016. 
 

 
   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS  

As of December 31, 2017, share-based payment agreements within the Group that are still in progress 
are as follows: 

 
• stock option plans;  
• the free share allocation plan; and 
• the BSPCEs 

These agreements are all settled in Group equity instruments. 

Since the BSPCEs were granted well before the transition to IFRS (1 January 2013), the granting of these 
had no impact on profit and loss for 2014 and 2015. 

The expense for the year corresponds mainly to the free share allotment plans and the stock option plan 
expense as described respectively in Notes 1 and 2 below.  
 

 

 

Salaries 10,560 6,306 4,254

Social security costs 3,564 2,341 1,223

Research tax credit 9 (1,340) (1,024) (316)

Share-based payments 21 2,154 1,067 1,087

Employee benefits 13 (68) 54 (122)

Total 14,869 8,744 6,126

Average employee numbers 109 84 25

Staff costs                                               
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 VariationNotes
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1 – THE FREE SHARE ALLOTMENT PROGRAMME 

The Group has set up a free share allotment programme that entitles the company's principal managers 
and employees to receive free Company shares.  

On 22 July 2016 and 6 October 2016, Median Technologies’ Board of Directors decided to use this 
delegation and awarded free shares to its employees through Plans A, B, C and D. 

The free shares under Plan A, i.e. 162,523 shares, were fully exercised during fiscal 2017. 

 
The main features of these four plans are summarised below: 

 

(*) The number of potential shares to be issued by the Group under Plan B was reduced by 10,000 shares 
following the departure of a Senior Executive who no longer fulfils the vesting conditions. The €18K 
expense recognised for the year ended 31 December 2016 was reversed to income as hedging for a 
reserve account. 

Specific information concerning Plans C and D: the free share allotment programmes C and D for 2016 
were all awarded to employees of the US subsidiary Median Technologies Inc. Their vesting is conditional 
on the beneficiaries’ presence and the occurrence of an exit event (stock market launch, change of control, 
etc.) before a certain date.  

In accordance with IFRS 2, the expense linked to the award of these free shares was calculated based on 
the fair value of the shares at their grant date, based on the following main assumptions: 

 
The recognised expense for the free shares was €2,122K for the year ended 31 December 2017. Free share 
movements during 2017 are presented in Note12. 
 

 

 

 

Plan no. Grant date Personnel involved
Number of 

options
Vesting conditions

Contractual 
life of the 

options

Plan A July 22, 2016 Senior management 162,523 1 year of service 1 year
Plan B July 22, 2016 Senior management 152,522 2 years of service 1 year
Plan C October 6, 2016 Senior management 186,873 Variable Specific
Plan D October 6, 2016 Senior management 186,872 Variable Specific

688,790Total 

Plan A Plan B Plan C Plan D
Share subscription price              8.99 8.99 8.48 8.48
Dividend rate 0% 0% 0% 0%
Discount for non-transferability 10% 10% 0% 0%
Fair value              8.09 8.09 8.48 8.48
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2 – STOCK OPTION PROGRAMME 

New stock option programmes during 2017 

On 22 June 2017 the Group launched a new stock option programme entitling Group employees and 
officers to acquire Company shares. This meeting delegated to the Board of Directors the possibility of 
awarding a maximum of 300,000 options to the managers and employees of the Median Group.  

On 26 June 2017 the Board of Directors awarded 22,500 options under this programme, the characteristics 
of which are as follows: 

 
The expense recognised in fiscal 2017 for these stock options is €28K. 

 

On 13 December 2017 the Board of Directors awarded 34,500 options under this programme, the 
characteristics of which are as follows: 

 
The expense recognised in fiscal 2017 for these stock options is €2K. 

These stock options were mainly allocated to employees of the US subsidiary Median Technologies Inc.  

 

Following are the main assumptions used to determine the expense resulting from the share-based 
payments using the Black-Scholes model for valuing the fair value of options: 

  
Projected volatility was estimated by taking into account the historical volatility of the share prices of a 
panel of comparable listed companies over a historical period compatible with the expected term. 

 

 

 

Plan no. Grant date Personnel involved
Number of 

options
Vesting conditions

Contractual 
life of the 

options
Plan n° 4 June 26, 2017 Senior management 22,500 4 years of service 7 years

22,500Total

Plan no. Grant date Personnel involved
Number of 

options Vesting conditions
Contractual 

life of the 
options

Plan n° 5 December 13, 2017 Senior management 34,500 4 years of service 7 years
34,500Total

Plan 4 Plan 5
Price of the underlying on the grant         12.40           8.85 
Strike Price                                                                                         13.00 13.00
Expected volatility     40% 40%
Maturity                                                                                            7 7
Risk-free return rates                                                                    1.67% 1.67%
Dividend rates                                                                                      0% 0%
Fair Value of Option                                                                                         5.26           2.88 
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Previous stock option programmes  

 

On 1 April 2011 and 5 April 2012, the Group implemented stock option programmes entitling the 
Company's key management personnel to acquire Company shares. These two General Meetings 
delegated to the Board of Directors the possibility of awarding a maximum of 300,000 options to the 
managers and employees of the Median Group. Following are the main features and conditions of the 
allotments under these programmes: 

 
The expense recognised in fiscal 2017 for these stock options is thus €1K. 

Movements of instruments during fiscal 2017 are presented in Note12. 

 
   EXTERNAL EXPENSES  

Other external expenses are broken down as follows: 

 

External expenses were €9,169 K as at 31 December 2017 compared to €6,134 K on 31 December 2016. 
This €3,035 K change in expenses is mainly due to: 

Plan no. Grant date Personnel involved
Number of 

options
Vesting conditions

Contractual 
life of the 

options

Plan n°1 July 5, 2012 employees 14,000 3 years of service 7 years

Plan n°2 February 5, 2012 employees 3,970 4 years of service 7 years

Plan n°3 October 3, 2013 Senior management 10,000 4 years of service 7 years

27,970Total 

Subcontracting 2,545 1,653 892

Rental and lease expenses 844 634 210

Repairs and maintenance 172 100 72

Insurance premiums 65 60 5

External services - various 1,220 714 506

External staff 463 137 326

Intermediate and fees 1,859 1,411 448

Advertisement 213 291 (78)

Transport 57 80 (23)

Travel, assignments and entertainment 1,218 720 498

Postal & telecommunications expenses 125 81 44

Banking services 79 59 20

Other services - various 24 27 (3)

Other operating expenses 287 167 120

Total 9,169 6,134 3,035

External costs                                                                   
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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 The €892 K increase in the use of outsourcing for pharmaceutical projects mainly related to the 
development of the activity;  

 The €210 K increase in rental costs over the period, which is mainly due to the rental of server hosting 
in 2017 (+ €162 K). We also have the effect of a full year of costs for the new offices in Woburn, 
Massachusetts (USA), established for the development of the subsidiary and US operations; 

 An increase in all other external expenses (insurance, advertising, travel, postage, banking, etc.), due 
to the very strong growth of the Group. 

 
   FINANCIAL INCOME 

Financial income is broken down as follows: 

  

 

   INCOME TAXES 

The income tax expense is broken down as follows: 

  

The Group's income tax is different to the amount that would theoretically result from the tax rate 
applicable in France due to the following: 

Interest and financial charges paid - (9) 9

Loss on investments (6) (8) 2

Cost of net financial debt (6) (17) 11

Exchange Loss (230) (79) (151)

Other financial charges - (8) 8

Other financial charges (230) (87) (143)

Exchange Gain 79 91 (12)

Other Investment income 40 80 (40)

Other Investment income 119 172 (53)

Total financial result (117) 68 (185)

Net financial result                                              
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Payable tax - France - - -

Payable tax - Abroad 4 2 2

Deferred taxes - net 4 (79) 83

Total 8 (76) 86

Tax on profit or loss                                               
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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Under the current legislation, the Company has tax deficits that can be carried forward indefinitely in 
France, amounting to €78,961 K as at 31 December 2017. The Company’s deficit on 31 December 2016 
was €62,473 K. 

The unrecognised deferred tax asset for accumulated deficits generated by the Group as at 31 December 
2017 was €21,361 K (€16,731 K for the year ended 31 December 2016). This corresponds to the tax effect 
on the Company’s tax loss carry-forwards, which can be charged to future taxable profits indefinitely. 
These deferred tax assets were not activated in accordance with the principles listed in Note 2. 

 

   EARNINGS PER SHARE 

The number of shares used to calculate earnings per share is equal to the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period in which the treasury shares are deducted.  

  

Potentially dilutive instruments are described in Note e.History of stock option plans. During the periods 
reported, the instruments granting a deferred right to capital (BSPCEs, Share purchase warrants, Free 
shares...) are considered anti-dilutive because they lead to a reduction of the loss per share. Diluted 
earnings per share is thus identical to basic earnings per share. 

 

Result before tax (17,198) (9,188) (8,010)

French corporation tax rate 33.33% 33.33%
Theoretical tax charge (5,733) (3,062) (2,671)

 Effect of tax on:
Other non-taxable income (ICR - CICE) (472) (376) (96)

Impact of unused tax losses brought forward 5,496 2,922 2,574

Other temporary differences 701 593 108

Actual tax charge (8) 76 (84)

Tax on profit or loss                                                   
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

Net result (17,206) (9,111) (8,095)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 11,951,702 11,633,759 317,943

Treasury shares (20,981) (13,807) (7,174)

Total shares 11,930,721 11,619,952 310,769

Earnings per share (en euros) -1.44 -0.78 (0.66)

Number of potential shares 13,662,209 13,747,133 (84,924)

Net result per share                                                                            
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

The Company's policy is to underwrite no financial instruments for speculative purposes. The company 
does not use derivative financial instruments. 

The Company is exposed, to varying degrees, to foreign exchange, counterparty and liquidity risks. It is not 
exposed to interest rate risk. 
 

Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due 
to changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company's strategy is to favour using the euro as the currency 
of its contracts. However, due to its international exposure, the company is also billed in dollars and is 
therefore exposed to currency risks related to these transactions. 

The Company cannot guarantee that a significant increase in its business will not result in greater exposure 
to currency risk. The Company plans to use a more appropriate policy to hedge these risks. 

The Group’s main currency risk involves the conversion of the accounts of the US subsidiary Median 
Technologies Inc. from dollars to euros.  

It is therefore mainly exposed to variations in the USD/EUR exchange rate. In order to limit the impact of 
this, the company reuses all of the funds it holds in dollars for the needs of its subsidiary. 
 

Interest rate risk 

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's financial liabilities were not subject to interest rate risk.  

Borrowings were at fixed rates and advances and repayable loans were at zero interest.  The Group does 
not hold any variable rate loans with financial institutions and therefore has no interest rate risk. 
 

Credit risk 

Credit or counterparty risk is the risk of loss on a receivable, or more broadly that of a third party not 
paying its debt on time.  

The risk presented by private customers is reduced by the advances and initial payments that the group 
obtains before providing any services.  

The Group has also set up an export credit insurance contract to cover losses on the receivables of 
defaulting export customers. 

The credit risk associated with receivables related to public subsidies and research tax credit is considered 
insignificant given the Company’s history. 

The credit risk related to cash, cash equivalents and current financial instruments is not significant, given 
the quality of the co-contracting financial institutions. 
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Liquidity risk 

The Group's conducts its financing operations under a policy implemented by the Finance Department. 

The Group's financing structure is mainly based on equity, shareholder financing and public financing 
(OSEO). 

Cash is held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or other 
purposes. It is readily convertible to a known amount of cash and carries an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. 

 
   OFF-BALANCE-SHEET COMMITMENTS AND OTHER CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

1 – LEASES 

The Company leases its premises at the Valbonne head office. It has a new lease for this site: 

 The lease is for a period of 9 years and will end on 15 October 2024 at the latest. It is a commercial 
lease which may be terminated every three years from its effective date of 16 October 2015. 

 

As at 31 December 2017, the total amount of future minimum lease payments to be made under these 
simple leases (non-cancellable term) is as follows: 

 

 

The Group also leases the US premises in the State of New York. These premises are occupied by its Median 
Technologies Inc. subsidiaries. The lease is for a period of 3 years and will end on 30 April 2019 at the 
latest.  

As at 31 December 2017, the total amount in €K of future minimum lease payments to be made under this 
simple lease (non-cancellable term) is as follows:  

 

 

 

 

 

within one year 183 228 (45)

between one and five years - 181 (181)

Total 183 409 (226)

Rentals                                                                       
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation

within one year 68 67 1

between one and five years 22 89 (67)

Total 90 156 (66)

12/31/2016 Variation
Rentals                                                                       
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017
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2 – CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 

Software and patent operating licences 

Under the terms of the licensing agreements with the University of Chicago, the Company has committed 
to pay this institution, subject to conditions, the following amounts: 

• Royalties equal to 1% of the Company’s turnover earned using the CAD-Lung software after December 
31, 2017. It should be noted that the contract provides that the Company must pay the University of 
Chicago a minimum of $15 K each calendar year from 2017 on (provisioned on the balance sheet of 
31/12/2017). 

• $45 K once the Company has obtained the necessary administrative authorisations to market the CAD-
Colon software in the United States, Japan or Europe, and $30 K once the cumulative sales of the CAD-
Colon software have exceeded $1,000 K. It should be noted that in early 2009 the Company decided 
not to market the CAD-Colon software.  

• Royalties equal to 1.5 to 2.0% of the Company’s turnover earned using the CAD-Colon software after 
December 31, 2017. It should be noted that the contract provides that the Company must pay the 
University of Chicago a minimum of $15 K each calendar year from 2017 on. It should be noted that, 
as the Company has decided to no longer market the CAD-Colon software, and in agreement with the 
University of Chicago, this commitment will not be applicable until the Company has resumed 
marketing it. 

 

  TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

Remuneration of the key executives 

The key executives are members of the Company’s Board of Directors. The remuneration paid or payable 
to key executives are as follows: 

 

The Group has no other transactions with the key executives. The Group has no related parties other than 
the members of the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

Wages and salaries (including social security contributions) 1,632 893 739

Wages and salaries to be paid  (including social security 545 201 344

Share-based payments 1,443 753 690

Pension obligations - 38 (38)

Director’s Attendance fees 100 50 50

Total 3,720 1,935 1,785

Remuneration of senior directors                                                                      
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016 Variation
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   FEES CHARGED BY THE STATUTORY AUDITORS AND THEIR NETWORK 

PwC’s fees shown in the consolidated income statement for the financial year 2017: 

 

 

   DIVIDENDS   

The Company did not pay out any dividends during the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December 
2015. No dividends were proposed prior to the approval of the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2017. 

 

   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

There are no subsequent events after the closing of the accounts. 
  

Audit and certification Indivdual accounts and consolidated statements
          - Parent 142 73
          - Affi l iated companies (Full  consolidation) - -

Other diligences and services related to the audit

          - Parent 31 40
          - Affi l iated companies (Full  consolidation) - -
Subtotal 173 113
Other services performed by networks to the affiliated companies (full consolidation)
          - Legal, fiscal and social - -
          - Other - -
Subtotal - -

Total 173 113

Fees received by statutory auditors                                                                               
(In thousands of euros)

12/31/2017 12/31/2016
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REPRESENTATION OF THE PERSON IN CHARGE OF THE 
FINANCIAL REPORT ON THE INDIVIDUAL AND 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Period from January 1 to December 31, 2017 

 

We hereby represent that to our knowledge the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable accounting standards and provide a true and fair view of the Company's financial position and financial 
performance and that of all of the companies included in the consolidation, and that the management report 
attached faithfully depicts the trend in the Company's affairs, its financial position and financial performance and 
that of all the companies included in the consolidation as well as the main risks and uncertainties with which the 
Company is confronted. 

 

 

 

 

Valbonne on April 5, 2018 

Chief Executive Officer 

MEDIAN Technologies SA 

 

Fredrik Brag 
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ANNEX ON THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT 
 

General report of the statutory auditors on the yearly accounts (In French) 
 
Special report of the statutory auditors (in French) 
 
General report of the statutory auditors on the consolidated accounts (in French) 
 
Certificate of the statutory auditors on the 5 best paid persons (in French) 
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